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CHAPTER I
BACKGROUND FOR THE FOUHDING OF ifEW BRAUNFELS

Camal County, which derived its name from the begutiful gomall River,
wes created by the first legislature of the State of Texas, March 24, 1846,2
at which time the City of Hew Braunfels, its county geat, was also incor-
porated. It had formerly been a precinct of Bexar County with Georg Kirchner
as County Commissioner, aznd Arnold Henclel as Justice of the Poace.3 The
county court met in its first session, August 7, 1846, with Conrad Seabauvgh
as County Clerk, and M. A, Dooley as Chief Justice.l"

The history of the county began in Mexico and Furops, for the areas
wag included by the goverament of Haxiéo in the Bexar land district of
Texas, and Texas was abttached to the State of Coshulla. November 10, 1831,
the zovernment of Opahuils and Texas granted to Juan Martin de Veramendl,

a citizen of San Antonio de Bexar, by deed of comcession "fwo lesgues of

1fhe word Gomal is from the Indisn term Comalli. The Mexicans used
it to desipgnate a griddle of iron or copper on which tortillas were baled.
The name was probably applied te the sgtream in 1721 by the Aguayo lLxpedl-~
tlon,

2H, P. #, Gammel, The Lows of Texas, Vol. 2, p. 1319,

SHermann Seele, A Sho rt Sketeh of Comal County, Texas, ». 4, This
pamphlet of eleven unnumbered pages was written by Mr. Seele in enmswer to

inguiries about the town, It was printed in 1885 by the Neu Braunfelser
Zoitung, Hereinafter referred to as A Short Sketch.

bGoms mal County Gopmissioners Court Mimutes, Vol. A, p. 1. Hereinafter
referred to as Minutes, with appropriate wolume name.
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land, more or less,” and referred to the land thus granted ag the Comal
Pract.> Byrd Loekhart, a surveyor, surveyed the tract and made a map of
it in December, 1831, Jusn Veramendi, certain that his claim had been
established, left the tract for the Indiane to use as a huniing ground.

In Burope, early in the nineteenth century the soalal,’ economic.s

and. political9 discontent of the German people caused them to plan te col-
onize Texas., On Aprilv 20, 1842, at Biebrich on the Bhine, & group of
Germen counts and princes met and organized a sociebylo to establish a
colony in Texas. Prince Victor of Leiningen and Count Joseph of Booa-Waldeck
wers sent to Texas as representatives of the organization. Prince
Leiningen accowplisghed nothing for the society, and Boos~Waldeck bought a
league of land in Fayette CGounty amd established Nassau Farm,11

When they returned to Germany, January,l84d4, Boos-Waldeck reported to
the gssociation sgalnet large scale emigration to Texas, since it would
require too large a financial outlay, and he severed his connection with
the soclety vhen it accepted the suggesetion of Prince Leiningen to embark
on o large—scale emigration progrzm. Some of the other members also dropped

out of the society and reorganization hecame necessery.l2 On Mareh 23,

5Qonal County Deed Record, Vel. T, p. 114,

61pid., p. 119.

?Rudolph Biesele, The History of German Settlements in Texas, 1831~
1861, pp. 1-3.

81pid., ». 7. 91pid., p. 10.
101pid., p. 66. 1lTpid., p. 67.

121ptd., ». 68,
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18k4, the Soclety for the Protection of Berman Immigrants in Texag was
formed to carry out the suggestion of Leiningen.l3 Prince Carl of Solms

Braunfels was appolnted commissioner general by the society's committee of
directors, April 20, 1844, and Alexander Bourgeols, 1 4 ¥renchman, was sp-
polnted colenial director, Bourgeois, who had added 4'Orvanne to his name,
had held a land grent in Texas, He hoped to renew this grent and let the
soclety colonize it.

Prince Solms and d'Qrvanne landed at Galveston, July 1, 1844, They
went to Houston and Nassau Farm to prepars for the colony that was to be
ostablished before the close of the year,17 but on August 28, 1844, d'Orvanne
armounced that he had besn dlemissedl6 by the soclety, and on December 14,
the socliety announced that it had nothing elaes to do with d'Orvenns, whose
land grant hsd been forfoited,+7

Meanwhile, on June 26, 184%, Henry Fisher, consul of Texas for Bremen,
had assoclated himself with the Society for the Protection of German Immi-
grants in Texas,18 Flsher, with his companion, Burchard Miller, had re-
coived a land grant, between the Llano and CGolorado Eivers, on June 7, 1842,
:Efram Sam Houston, President of the Republic of Texas. Fisher had received
& renewal of the contract, September 1, 1843,19 and sold an interest in the

Figher snd Miller colonization contract to the society.zo

13Biesele, gp. git., p. 69, I4Ibid., p. 71.

L51bid., p. 74 161014, , p. 75.
171b4d., p. 76. 181pig., p. 81.

191pid., pp. 76-7. 201big., p. 82.



Prince Solms spent the summer and early fall getting acquainted with
Texas, He learned that the Fisher grant was not sultable for colonization.
Augnst 26, 1844, he reported to the directors that he had met Colonel Haysa,
the surveyor, who hed confirmed the belisf that the Fisher grant was too
far from the coast, and too inaccessible for the first colonists to settle
there, Prince Solms also told the dirsctors that he helieved the grant
was too far from the Rio Grande to develop trade with Mexico., He stated
that the immigrants must settle farther south ard urged that steps be tgken
to extend the grant southward,?Ll

Prince Solms requested the directors to send him an assistant because

distancea in Texas were too great for one man to do an efficient job, He

2l0riginal Berichie deg Prinzen Carl zu Solms Braunfels Bezueglich der

Gruendung won New Braimfels, Texas, 180441845 | p. 47. The volume containg
documents pertaining to the colonial administraztion of the Soeciety for the

Protection of German Immigrsents in Texrs. It was presented to the City of
Hew Braunfels, Hovember 2, 1908, by Mr. Wilhelm Seekatz, Sr., who, accord-
ing to his granddaughter, liss Suzanna Haegelin, had received it from
friends in Braunfels, (ermsny, with whom he corresponded regularly. Mr.
Seekatz was ona of the first settlers of FHew Braunfels. The Clty of New
Braunfels donated the volume to the Sophiemburg ifuseum, when it was built,
The decuments in the volume are transcripis, in German seript, of
records written by Dr. de Witt, by Henry P, Fisher, snd Prince Carl of
Solms Braunfels. The documents written by Prince Solmg are divided into
eleven separate reports: #I, dated Jume 15, 1844, at Nassan Farm; 411,
written August 20, 1844, at San Antoniec de Bexar; #III, dated Auguss 26,
1844, at Sen Antonio de Bexar; #IV, September 20, 1844, at Nassau Farm;
#V, written October 25, 1844, at Galveston; ¢WI, dated December 23, 184k,
at Port Lavaca, #VII, written Jamuary 1, 1845, at Port Lavaca, with a
postseript of Janmuary 5, 1845, in Camp ab Agva Dulce; #VIII, dated Feb-
roary 8, 1845, and the postscript thereto, February 12, 1816, at Galveston;
#IX, written Marech 5, 1845, in Camp on deloy Creek; #X, dated March 27,
1845, in Camp on CGomal Creek; #XI, April 30, 1845, at the Sophienburg.
Uriginally the documents had mo page numbers, They now bear large,
penciled nomersls, The pagination, of references from these records, is
based on the penciled mumersls. Only the reports of Prince Solms will
be used in this paper and will hereinafter be referred to as Solms, with
sppropriate pagination,
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folt that neither the Americans nor the HMexicans could be trusted to carry
out instructions, so he could not use them as assistants.22 He also aslhed
that a capable msn be sent over at an early dste to relieve him for a few
months. He would return to Germany to give a verbal report on conditions
in Texas. and to propose many changes in the general colonization pragram.23
Phe most immedinte problem was the delay of Henry Fisher, who finally
arrived in Galveston, October 20, 1844, vhere Prince Solms was anxionsly
ewalting him, They discusged the supplies for the immigrants. Ir, Fisher
had bought some goods in New York and MNew Orleans, but many necessities
were nobt provided. It was declded that the additions] suwplles shounld be
pﬁrchs,sed in New Orleans through the Gelveston firw, E. Esuffmarnn and Com-
pony, and delivered directly to Hatagorda Bay.2t Hesdquarters for Prince
Solms shonld be at this bay, until he could reach s permanent location, 25
Since he still needed lond for the first settlement, he explorsd the
Guedalupe Valley in company with Hemry Fisher. They met Hejor Heys,206 who
happened to be ip the valley with some of his %roops. Together they Jour-
neyed o the Fisher grant %o determine the exact locabion thereof,<7 While
on this trip, Prince Solms decided to take the immigrants to the interior

by way of Victoria, Gonzales, snd Seguin,

22301ms, ep. elt., ». 42, 23_!,9}_@;., . 69.
2l1pig., p. 56. 251pid., ». 58.

26prince Solms did not identify Major Hsys in his report. Im all prob-
sbility he was speaking of John Coffin Hays, » slender young Tennsssean, who
had come to Texas in 1837, and who hed become a member of the Texas Rangers.
He held the rank of MajJor at the sge of itwenty-one.

27Salms, on. git., p. 57.



It wos alsoc on this trip that he lezrned of the wonderful place,
rumored to consist of four leagues and located at the "fountains,! on the
way between San Antonio de Bexar and Austin. He wes told that this land
was good frrm lend, that it had cedar and oak forests, and power-producing
Water.za Prince Solms immediztely determined to buy the land, 1f poasible,
but before he could proceed to San Antonio to learn more about the land,
he hed to return to the coast to provide a camp site for the immigrants,
who would arrive in Decenmber,

Bovember 22, 1844, upon arrival at Port Lavaca, he made plans to ex-—
amine the entrancea %o ILavaca Bay, for he wished to find a suitable landing
place for the immigranis, He wanted a plaoce with good water and a shord
route to the interior,29 When he found such s place, he called it Indian
Point, which was later kmown as Indianols and Carlshefen, and he designated
it as the place where the vessels should land. He planned to return to
Galveston, where he expscied to find the first immigrsnt ship.

Prince Solms made the trip to Galveston with Henry Fisher. Enroute
they ware eaught in 2 heovy north storm =nd sziled four deays end nights,
They sryived in Galveaton, December 2.30 vhere Prince Solms visited Mr,

D. B, Hlerner, a Galveston bugsiness man, whom he had sppointed agent for
the sgcietyﬁl He learned, to his surprise, that onme of the iLmmigrant ships
had left Galveston for Matagorda Bay the night before. This displsased

Solms, He belisved he had instructed the agent to send the boats to Port

28301ms, op. eib., p. 65.  29Ibid., p. 62.

BOIbid., P. 63, 31l1nia., p. 56.
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Lavaca only upon specific instructions from himself. In order to fulfill
hig dutles $0 the immigrants, Prince Solms took to the sea again the next

day. He salled on the American revemme cutter, Alert, but due to high seas,

Coptain Simpton ordered the boat to port, FPrince Solms was forced to
wait until December 9, to agailn attempt to reach the immigrants,’?

He arrived at Port lavaca on the evening of December 11, 1844, He
found the immigrants, who had arrived on the Johny Dethart, in camp two
miles from the point of lending. The camp was sheltered by a small live
oak forest, which furnished firewood, and a hundred yards distant a fresh
waker sopring furnieched an ample water supply.

The next dsy Frince Solms moved his headquarters to the camp site.
He was pleased that the immigrante were well, but displeased with the camp
site because he believed it too low, He searched for another camp site
and on December 16, while visiting Indian Point again, decided to move
the camp there. He resched an agreement for its use with the owner, a
Mr, White,33 and named the new port Carlshafen.3% Here he built a denot
and several housesz for the soclety, and made plansg to build way stotions
for ¢x teams, These statlons were to be named Leinincen =nd Castell for
members of the socleby and were to be located between the coast and the
Pfounteins, 35

Religious services were conducted in camp by the protestant minister,36

3230ins, on. gik., p. 63.  OIbid., p. 6L,
341p1d., p. 66. 351ptd., . 67.

31p1d., p. 68.
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the Reverend Louis C. Ervendberg. He had moved from Illinois to Housten,
in 1839, snd had there established a German Protestant Church,37 and had
novw accepted an offer from Prince Solms to serve the coloniste ss spiritusl
lsader. Under his direection Holy Communion wns celebrated on Christmas
Day, Mass was not celebrated in camp becanse Prince Solms had been unable
to obtain the services of a priest, although he had forwsrded funds for
travel fare for Father Alexander, whom the Superior of the Redemptorigts,
Baltimore, Maryland, had recommended as leader for the ¢olonists of the
Roman Catholic feith,38

Restlessness and dissatisfaction were evident in camp earily in 1845,
Prince Solms reaslized the need for land on which to seitle permanently,
therefore, he determined to move to the interior, without building way
stotions, and te buy the land at the "Ffountains,! between San Antonio and

Austin, 39

37Hernann Séele, Dis Oypresse und Gesammelte Schriften, p. 103, This
179-page book is a collsetion of stories Mr. Seele wrote st different times,

It was published by the New Braunfelser Zeltung, in 1936, and is hereinmafter
referred to as Die Oypresse.

38501ns, op. eit., p. 68, 391pid., p. 65.

Ll
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CHAPTER II

PRINCE SOLMS PURCHASED THE COMAL TRACT

Prince Solms arrived in Ssn Antonlo on Mereh 10, 18LS5, a~nd lesrned
that the wonderful land st the "fountains® was the property of the heirs
of Juan Hartin de Veramendi, and that it was kmown as the Comel Tract.l
He was soon in conference with Harcos A. Veramendi and Hafeel €. 8arza,
the son and son-in-law of the deceased Juen Veramendi, zbout purchosing
the land.?

On Hareh 14, 1845, Prince Solms, ns trustee of the Associstion for the
Protection of German Fmigrants in Texns,3 entered into an agreenent with
Rafael O, Garza =nd his wife, HMaris Antonis Veramendl Garza, of the County
of Bexar, in the Hepublic of Texas, for ths purchase of iirs. Garza's share
of the Juan Veramendi lands, These lands vere within the County of Bexsaor,
on the southwestern waters of the Guadalupe River, and did not exceed one
equal undivided fourth part of the two lesgue Veramendi Tract,

It wes agreed that the purchase price wos %o be one thousawd one hundred

eleven dollars, of which five hundred dollars was pald in cash by Prince

lorigins] Berichte deg Prinzenm Carl zu Solms Braunfels Bezueglich der
Gruendung von New Braunfels, Texss, 1844-1845, p. 91. Herelnafter referred
to as Solns.

2gomal Comnty Deed Heecord, Vol. B, p. 1ll4. Hereinsfter cclled Deed Recoad.

JInnceurate translation for Vorein zunm Schutze deutscher Einwanderer
in Texas, lore commonly known as the Society for the Protection of Germon
Inmizrants in Yexss.
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Solme. The payment of the additional six hundred eleven dollars was condi-
tiona.l.q' Baron de Bastrop claimed that the Comsl Tract was ineluded in

hig land grant,5 and therefore, = law sult would be instituted to clear

the Veramendi title, and if the suilt terminsted in favor of the Garzas, the
heirs of Veramendi, then Prince Solms would pay the six hundred eleven
dollars, plus the cost of counsel for the law suit,6 which finally terminated.,
April 25, 1879, in favor of the cliizens of Hew Braunfels, when the United
States Circuit Court rendered its decision.?

The wnortion of the land belenging to Joss Veramendl and Teresa Veramendi,
minor heirs of Juan Veramendi, was also promised to Prince Solms, but not
until Hay B8, 1845, was 1% transferredd by order of the Probate Court of
Bexar County for the consideration of eight hundred dollars.? Since this
portion of the land was also involved in the suit at law, Prince Solms had
pgreed to psy the feeg of the counsellors, Devine and Anderson, attorneys
of Sen Antonio, Toxas, L0

The land commenced at a point where the Hacogdoches read crogsed
the Guadalupe River, gt a pile of rocks and ran up with the bends of

the river 7510 varas,tl thence out to prairie, South 53 degrees Weasd
10700 varss to 5 shake, thence South 70 degrees West 3300 varas o a

“Deed Record, Vol, @, p. 1lh.

5Seele, Die Cypregse, vp. 97-8.
6I}eeg Record, Vol, 3, p, 120,

7Scaele, A Short Sketeh, p. 7.

SDead. Bocord, Vol, B, p. 114,
9Ipid., p. 117. 101pta., p. 116.

1lppe varas is an 0ld Spanish lend measure. It is equivalent to
33 1/3 inches.
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stalte and from thence vin direct line South 27 degrees Basft 3500 varas

to the road leading from San Antonio to Hacogdoches, where stake vas

placed and from thence with the general course and windings of the
sald road leading to Nacogdoches,l?

The deed for the transaction was delivered for registration, May 9,
1845, at the County Clerk's Office, San Antonio, Texss, snd duly recorded
in Book C, Number 2, on pages 97, 98, 99, 100, and 101, Record of Deeds,
County of Bexer, by Thomas H. 0. §. Addicks, Clerk.13

Upon completion of the agresment wilth iarcos A. Veramendi and Rafael
C. Garza, Prince Solms set out to view the land he had bought. He rode to
Seguin, whsere on lgreh 1?,1}“' he was joined by D. Nicolaus Zink, who had been
sppointed engineer for the colony,t5 and Jean von Coll, the bookkeeper for
the emigrants,lﬁ who were accompanied by thirteen members of the military
company, which Prince Solms had organized, January 5, vhile in camp at
Agus Dulcea or Chocolate Creek,17 the plsce to which he had moved the immi~-
grants from Osrlishafen, Prince Solms and his party traveled six miles be-
vond Seguin, to some springs asleng the Guadalupe, where they pitched camp
for the night. During the night, to the surprise of the groun, a Texas
norther blew in and continmued to blow for more than a week,

The next day Prince Solms crossed the Gusdalupe at the point where the

military road from Nzmcogdoches to San Antonio crossed the stream. He found

12peed Record, Vol. &, p. 117. 17Ibid., ». 118,
lL*Solma, on, cit., p. 91. 15Seele, Die Cypressge, ». 113,

16501ms, op. clt., p. 70. 171p34., p. 73.
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that the Guadslune had high banks and that the water rushed over the rocks
in high waves. Immediately adjacent to the mlace of crossing, Prince Solms
found. thé land ha'had purchaged for the sociely and which later became the
core of Comal Gounty.ls It was a wilderness, and although he traveled
along the stream for five miles in an attempt to resch the "fountsins® or
springs, he falled to find them.

On the morning of the nineteenth, two Americans, who hsd been hear
hunting, came to the camp of Solms and took him to the springs without
difficulty. He spent the rest of the day riding through the region to
acquaint himself with the terrain. He found mountsins with s wide plateau
stretehing behind them, and he saw signs of Indian encampments everywheres,
but these did not make him unhsppy, for he believed that as soon ag o0ld
world culture would be brought into the region the Indian would stay away.
He visualized the sschion, near the Cowal Springs, as an industriazl reglon,
which would be developed immnedlately, and he believed that the noilse of the
mills would frighten the Indian so he would leaye‘forever.

Prinece Solms saw that the land he had bougﬁt was crossed by the Comsl
River, which had a fertile prairie on its right bank and an open space
stretching to the dominsnt highland area. On the left banlk of the Comal
stretched a rich, forest covered bottom land, which extended toward the
cedar, ozk, and elm covered hills, These hills Prince Solms believed

formed s backhone gimilar to the Black Forest of Germany.19

18501me, on. eit., ». 1. 191p1d,, p. 92.
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CHAPIER III

EARLY DAYS IN THE COLONY

The immigrant wagons traveled slowly but steadily inland. When they
reached the east bank of the Guadalupe, the stream was swollen from recent
raing, therefore, a camp site was found and the tents pitched for an en-
caupment., By Good Friday, Mareh 21, 1845, the flood waters had receded
sufficiently to make passage to the west bank possible,l and George Ullrich,
a German—-"l‘exan,skilfuliy drove the first immigrant wagon across the stream,?
Prince Solms had supplied a pulley, and thls, attached to the tongue of
the wagon, served as a safely device,

Once across the stream, Ullrieh, followed by other drivers, drove %o
a high ¢liff of the Comal Creek, where a new encampment was lzid out and
maintained until homes had been erected, This camp was called Zinkenburg,l
in honor of the engineer, and became a part of the city as soon as it was
laid out. Shortly, pallisades wers constructed on three sides of the camp

for protection: the fourth side wzs deemsd safe since 1t was a steep, high

loriginal Berichte des Prinzen Onrl zu Solms Braunfels Bezueglich der
Grue von New Braunfels, Texas, 1844~1845, p. 92, Hereinafter Solma,

Zfeu Braunfelgser Zeitung, Jen. 12, 1888, p. 3, ¢. 3. Hereinafter called
Zeltung, .

3%plender~Jahrbuch der Neu Braunfelser Zeitung fuer 1924, ». 54. This
bock is one of a series of 64-page calenders published by the Zeitung., The
thirty-sixth edition appearsd in 1943, and because of paper shortsges during
World War II none have heen issved since, BHereinafter referred to as Xalen-

der 1924,
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c¢liff, 3Before a week had passed, thirty-one immigrant wsgons had arrived
at Zinkenburg, and the other holf of the immigrants were expected to
arrive any day.""

Yhile the colonists were encamped at Zinkenburg, some Lipan Indians,
among bthem Chief Castro, came to visit Prince Solms amnd offered theilr
friendship to the colonists, The Lipan Chief drank wine and ate German
cookies, while Prince Solmg smoked the pszce pipe with hls visgitor. Ister,
when the colonists met these Indians or s hawkeyed, blachk-headed Delaware
tribesman in the forest, they woved a friendly hand and the Indian guickly
disa.ppeared;5 but to ingure their safety the colonists organized a military
conpany of riflemen and one of artillery. They kent a sentry on the alert
at the entrance to Zinkenburg, both day and night., Fortunately, the Indians
never attacked the settlement, although in October 1845, two citizens of
the commanity, Captain ¥. Wrede, and his companion, Oscar Claren, lost
their lives to the Indians near Manchaca Springs, while they were enroute
from Austin to New Braunfels.é

While the settlers arranged the stockade, Prince Solms continued to
explore the countryside. He decldsd to locate the citadel on the dominant
eliff of the area, &nd named this hill the Vereinsberg.7 It was southeast

of the camp and had a profuse growth of elm trees, Prince Solms gave

l"Sclms, ovn. cit., p. 93. 5Kalendeg 1924, pp, 54~5.

5Seele, A Short Sketch, »n. 4. 7Solms. on. ¢it., ». 92,
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orders for the construction of the fort, and also dirscted Mr, Zink to survey
the land immediately and lay out the town below the Vereinsberz.8 After

the town had been laid out the citizens drew lots for the half-acre plots

of ground that the scciety gave to each head of a family and to each young
man over seventeen years of sge, The ares surrounding the town was lald

out into ten acre farms for which the citizens also drew lots,?

New problems arose as soon as the lottery hed been held. Some citi-
zons weore dissgtisfied with the land they received bhecsuse théy expected
the 320 acres per family and 160 scres per ummarried man, which had been
promised them, if they settled on the Fisher grant., These sold thelr
small holdings for a song and blamed Prince Solms for thelr hard.ships.lo
Others believed they should find farms and manors awaiting them, without
having to produce them out of the wilderness. Such individuasls complained
that they would have stayed in Europe, if they had realized they would
have to work in America.ll Those people. who were willing to worls were
anxlous to cut timber for thelr homes, for the cool, molst March westher
made them desire more shelter than the tents prmrid.ed.;l2 yet Prince Solms
was impatient to have the seéiety buildings erected before construction
of private dwellings began. The matter of elearing land for garden plots
and fields was also essentisl. Many of the pioneers realized that food

would be scarce the next winter, and if sweet potatoes snd corn were not

8s0lms, onp. egit., p. 93. 9Ib_id., p. 94,
IOK&;ez;der 19 !_{;; P 55- llmlbid-v P ’4’9-

lzsolms, on. eit., ». 93.
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planted before the season was too for advenced, they could not be harvested
in the £all. In spite of the anxiety to start their homes and ferms, the
fort, which was merely a log cabin, was started, The cormerstone was laid
with much pomp and ceremony, April 28, 1845, and Prince Solms name@. the
fort, "Sophienburg," in honor of Lady Sophla, his sweetheart, and to the
town he gave the name "Few Braunfels," in commemoration of his native

home, Braunfels, Germany. 13

Prince Solms issued his last offiecisl report, April 30. He had learned
that John 0, Meusebach, the newly appointed commissioner general, who would
replace him, hed arrived in New Orlesns and he expected him in New Braunfels
shortly. He complained to the society that the magazine was so poorly
conafructed that it was only an inferior barrscks with a lesky rcof. The
constant rains had spoliled four wagon loads of cormmesl that were atored
in 13, He also complsined that the soclety would sustain great expense dus
to the inefficiency of the colonlsts, He reported that Meusebach's letter
had been postmarked in New Orleans, April 6, therefore, he planned to leave
the settlement, Hay 15, for Boston, Massachusetts, to take passzge on June
15, for Europe.l’*

It is easy to understend that life in Texas had sowme unpleasaniness
for Prince Solmg, First, some colonists were disanpointed with the smsall
land grants, second, a few scoundrels were 1in the group and caused much
trouble, third, still others, pariicularly the better slement, realized

that Prince Solms wished to make the colony dependent on Germany. They

13501ms, op. cit., v, 94, 41pid., p. 95.
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knew that he opposed annexation of Texzs to the Unlted States, whereas
they cherished the opportunity to be free citizens of the United States.
These citizens probably offended their lsader, Apr,il 28, 1845, and thus
hastened hig departure from Texas, Vhile Prince Solmas ralsed the flag of
Aastria at the Sophienburg, the patriots ralsed the stars =nd stripes; on
& flagoole, in the town belnw.15

With the arrival of John 0, Meusebach, the morale of the settlerrs in-
proved, Although the soclety failed to send snoungh supplles general con-
ditions were better. Those citizens, who had sufficlent funds, could
always get plenty to et at the restaurant of a Mrs. Holekamp or at that
of "der dicken Madame,! for there was plenty of geme - venisen, turkey,
duecks, and snipe were always availsble to the good hunter. Those who had
little money snd failed to bag the game16 hod more trouble to feed them—
selves. Yet they were able to catch fish in the Comsl snd Guadelupe, crab
or creyfish in the Comel COreek, and a kind of eclam in the Guadalupe. VWater
eress and "purglane® were awvailable for salads, mustang grapes for preserves,
Jellies, and wine. Other wild fruits, sueh o8, persimmons, plums, cherries,
agaritas, and the pear or fruit of the sactus, could be uged for preserves
or saten fresh, Naturally the immigrants had to get acquainted with these
products befors they could use them, 17

The housing problem, like the food problem, was solved fairly early.

The first log house in %town was bullt by the Reverend L. C. Ervendberg,

LoKalender 1924, p. 56. _1‘5.1_13.3.&.@.-, ». 49,

17Ibsd., pp. 50-1.
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while the first farm house %o be completed belonged to Adolph Wedemeyer.ls
The immigrants who arrived in HMay, like Hermann Seele snd his friend, Hein~
rich Herbst,19 and all those who arrived in July, were givenm town lots,Z<0
on which they built houses. By Christmas, some of the late arrivals and
nogt of the original sebtlera had completed their homes and were enjoying
the light snd warmth of their own hesrth,2l

In 1846, there was retrogression as well as improvement in the colony,
for the War with Mexico esused many of the immigrants, who arrived in the
spring of the year, to be stranded at the cosst for lack of transportation,
While in the coast reglon, due to the poor housing, insdequate food and
water supplles, they contracted diseases, vhich they brought with them to
New Braunfels, wvhere they hecame s burden to the old settlers. They caunged
the colony to look like a vast hospltel, full of the sick and dyilng, and
in a few instances caused original settlers to becomse 111, During these
trying months, the soclety entirely discontinwed rationing provisions,
and some families suffersd from lack of s balanced diet. It was not un~
usual for the town to have three burials per day.22

However, by March,1847, conditions had improved and the following

citizens of Comel Oounty, nine of them merchants or officers of the Versin,

1850616, A Short Sketech, p. 4.
197eitung, May 22, 1895, p. 1, c. 6.

20ggele, A Short Sketch, n. 4.

ZIZsigm,. HMay 22, 1895, ». 1, e.6.

223eele, A Shert Sketch, p. 5.
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the rest government officials, ariisans, and farmers, published a stabe-
ment in the Galveston Weekly News to tell about the imoroved conditions:?3

Adolph Wedemeyer

Chrigtof Imentzel

Hox Inentzel

Augnst Forks

dJuliugs Eellner

¥, ¥W. Specht

Thoodore Koester, i, D.

Indwig Mittendorf

Julius REennert

F. H. Seele

L. C. Ervendberg, clergymant

Von Iwonskl

E, ¥, Thomae

Arnold Count Henckel

F. Dotter

Henry Hesler

J. L, Honne

B, von Hartz

John R, Wien

Moses Campbell

V. R. Veles

Izaac Scott

W. Seeksatze

(The family later dropped the final Ye,® This particular Mr,
‘Seekatz secursd the copies of Prince Solms's reports to the Soclety
for the Protectlon of Germon Immigrants,.)

¥. W. Day

Fried. Heldemeyer

W, Remer, M.D.

Felix A. V. Bluecher

Theodore Sterzing

B, Eriewlez v. Zypry

0. H. Carstediek

Fordinend ILindheimerdd

They mentioned that thelr purpose in publishing a signred statement

23¥iktor Bracht, Texas in 1848, p. 92, The book was translated from
the German by Charles Frank Schmidt, Professor of History, Blinn Memorial
Gollege, Bremham, Texasg, copyright 1931, Naylor Printing Company, Sen An~
tonic, Texas.

2h1pi4a., p. 4. 251b14., p. 95.
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vae to glve immigrants, who wished to join the New Braunfels settlement,
& chance to sarry out thelr plans.zé They urged such immigrants not to
remain in the lowlands of the stzabte, vhere the climate was unsuitable for
Europeans. They stresged that the prosperity of the community impressed
one, when the fact, that the town had been in existence such a short time,
was taken Into consideration. The extension of streets and ths replace-
ment of the log huts by more durable and mors comfortable homes were evi-
dence of improvement. Iany homes were surrounded by beautiful, well kept
gardens, HNunerous new houses were belng built each month in town and on
the farms adjacenﬁ to the town,

There was a demand for mechanics and artisans of all kinds. These
were earning good salaries and meny more than were avallable could find
employment in the community, without impairing the chances of all for a
comfortable living., HWew Brsunfels offered provisions of 211 kinds for
sale. They were of high gquality and chesper than in most other parts of
America. ZEven the produets that were transported from the coast to the
interior were cheap ss compared to the prices psid for articles of home
production and the wage sesle for artlsans, The community had seven or
eight stores that were owned by regpectable merchaats, therefore, scarcity
of provisions, such as had occurred two yeazrs sarlier, was not possible,

Heplth and sanitary conditions were favorsble in the eommunity.27
Two experienced physicians and two phsrmacists were avallable, and there-

fore, the sick could expert better medical attention than in any other

26pracht, Texas in 1848, pp. 92-3. 27Inid., p. 93.
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Texas town of egual size, Thére were also several bakeries that furnlshed
good bresd and o brewery that fDurniched beer,

By 1847, the land values in the region had ineressed to two or three
dollars per acre, end since the land was very fertile it was easily put
vnder cultivation, MHore important than the fertility of the soil, was the
location of the sefttlement on the road from Austin to San Antonio, which
nade New Braunfels a ready market feor all kinds of produce, and s desirable
place to live,

The subdivision of a league of land near New Braunfels, formerly the
property of Albert €, Horton, Lisutenant—Governor of DPexes, 1845~7, for
homesites, was another sign of growth and prosperity. The best evidence
to refute envious and distorted tales shout the conditions of the colony
was the Ffaet that a considerable number of Americans and old Texens had
recently settled in the n.sa:’L{g‘h'tm:c'hoc;wi.2’8

The fortunes of the community had increased, by 1850, to ineludes a
ferry aeross the Guadalups, which could not be crossed without one during
flood tide.29 One was sstounded that the town had neat shops of artisans,
and. neny stores ond homes, when the fact, that it was only five yeasrs old,

vag recalled, 30

28Bracht, Texag in 1848, p. 94,

299shrbuch der Heu Braynfelser Zeitune fuer 1936, p. 26. This is
one of the series of HL-page hooklets published by the Zeltung, but cilled
Jahrbuch rather thon Ealender or Kalender-dahrbuch, The word Kalender was
dropped in 1925 and all calenders, 1925~43, inclusive, if used as refer-
ences in fthis paper will heresinafter be referred to as Jahrbuch with the
appropriate date.

301pia., p. 27.
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CHAPTER IV

COMMUNITIES NEAR NEY BRAUNFELS

The settlement opened on the Horton League, 1846-7, became known as
Hortontown,l in honor of the original owner. It extended along the east
bank of the Guadslupe and soon becsme a progperous community, however, at
the time 1t was belng settled the land was a part of Guadelupe County
rather than Comsl County. Idke the pioneers in New Braunfels, the Yorton-
towners belleved in culture and soon erected a frame chureh, and a scheol-
house of limestone dlocks,

Az time passed the citizens of Hortontown became aware of their dis-
tance from Seguin, the county seat of Guodslupe County, and the difficul-
ties they encountered when called for Jjury service., They alse realized
their nearness to Kew Braunfels =nd the trade adventages open to them
there, so they called o mesting, November,1855, in which #¥r. J. Voeleker,
one of their group, was chosen to carry a petition to Austin to recuest
snnexstion to Comal Gounty.2

This wish was granted in 1858, when the legislature of Texas trans-
ferred Hortontown and Weighborsville, alsc a Guadslupe County settlement
ne=r NWew Braunfels, to Comal County, and took part of the northeran

portion of Comal County to creste Blanco County. Iew Braunfels citizens

lHarmann Seele, A Short Sketch, ». 6.

2zeltuns, Nov. 23, 1855, p. 2, c. 4.

3Fahrbuch 1939, p. 64.
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Shortly before settlers moved into the Hortontown community, others
had moved wert of town up the valley of Comal Cresk, and those who were
Just arriving from Burope purchased lots on the east bank of the Comal River,
where Rafael C. Garza 1aid out Comal Town.’ At approximately the same time
farms were boing lald out at Waco Springs, and at Misalon Valley,5 with the
Spiess, Wetzel, Krueger, Groos, Lohl, and Meins families settling at the
former, snd the families of L. Xessler, J. Brecher, H, Dietz, Bremer,
Kappmeyer, Foerater, Walzem, Boehm, Hueller, Startz, and Kendall starting
ranches at the latter.

In Danville, at the eight mile creelr, such families as the Schuetts,
Grothaus, Riefkohl, and Klaus opened farms, while a few miles away J. H.
Bremer, and the Schasfer, Hierholzer, Wenzel, and Jonas families established
themselves., In 1849, the merchante, Ferguson and Hessler, arranged a farm
at Marienthal, and soon theresfter Pault moved to Jacobsthal. Along the
upper waters of the Cibole Creek farms were being settled by Schulmeler,
Pleper, Voges, Rompel, Vogel, and Wehe brothers, Foerster, and Koch; while
in 1847, Sisterdsle was started by H, Zirk and the Holekamp family. By
1850, it extended 1lts boundery lines to ineclude the farms of Behr, Degener,
Dr, Kapp, Corstangs, Rhodius, Dr, Runge, Kuechler Henperts and others.

After the C. Bremer family sebtled at Buffale Spring in 1848, sone
other sebtlers moved vp along the west benk of the Guadalupe. Among these
settlers vere the Kunz, Tausch, Alsens, and Hleinhans familiea, while

£till further up the river the families of Smith, Calhoun, Artzt, Bose,

u’Seele. A Short Sketch, p. 5. 5Ibi§;., p. 6.
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Coers, and Heffter settled,

B, Smithson was the first settler in Smithson's Valley, bubt he was
soon Joined by H. Busch, 0. Xuehn, Groenecke, Gass, Spengenberg, Ioeffler,
Hillert, Seegers, and C, Ohlrich; while the Demijohn Bend became the home
of the Pantermmehl and O, Baetge famillies., At a still greater distance
from New Braunfels, along the west bank of the Guadalupe lived Elmendorf,
Gabriel Remmler, Schers, and Baser, At Honey COreek, Hans von Specht
settled on the west bank, while James Henderson and Jovers settled on the
east bank about ;850; and the first German $o move to Spring Branch in
1852, was Diedrich Knibbe, Iater he was joined by C. Kriegner, V. Horne,
and Pster Imhof, and nearer t¢ the new road to Fredericksburg, the L, Willke
family settled. The road was of great lnterest to the Comal County cltizens
since it had been lald out by the county before the north portion of the
county was cubt off to nmake Blancoé and Kendsll Gounties.

Before Blanco and Kendall Countiss were cereated, settlements had heen
gtarted on the Little Blanco and Curryts Creelk, where Judge W. . Jones
established hinself, and st Rebecca Creel, where ., Elbel lived on the

east bank of the cresek and Sattler, Fischer, and Engel on the west bank,?

6geituns, Apr. 4, 1896, v. 4, c. 2. 7Ibid., . &4, c. 3.
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CHAPTER V

SCHOO0LS

The plioneers believed in education and wasted no time in organizing
2 school for their children. In less than five monthg after thelr arrival
at New Brzunfels, they cpemed the first German~English school west of the
Colorsdo. They engaged Mr, Hermonn Seele, = locsl citizen, as teacher.

He opened the school soon afier six oleclock in the morning, August 11,
1845, On his way to the school grounds, he stopped at the home of Pastor
Ervendberg to discusg the plens for the morning, because the achool was
gponsored by the German Protestant Church, and classes were conduncted
under the same grove of trees that the services of the church were held
on Sundays.

When kr. Seele arrived at the school grounds, he was greeted by the
fifteen children who were to be the pupils.l After greeting the children,
he started classes, He was pleased with their abilliy and attentiveness.
He ingtructed them enthusiastically in arithmetic, reading, and observa-
tion or perception. In the resding class the pupils used vhatever German
rezsders they hsd brought from the old country, and Webster's spelling hook
for their English reading. The arithmetic class consisted mostly of mentsl
arithmetic because only a few slates hed withstood the ocean journey and
the trip Inlsnd. The children, who were fortunate enough to have & slate,

made erayons from blue elay, which they cut from the eliffg along the Comal

lHermann Seele, Die Cypresse, p. 56.
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and Cuadmlupe Rivers. A henvy plenk laid scross piles, which were driven
into the ground, served the older pupils as desk to write at or as = bench
to sit on, as the occasion pregented 1tself,

‘At eight o'clock, or after the children hsd been in school %wo hours,
they enjoyed a recess. They tumbled on the grass or played "hide and go-
seok," They satisfied their hardy appetites by esting fresh cornbread
with cold beefsteslt and as a titbit, they gethered some of the fruit from
nenrby trees — the 1little red cheeked cherries, and the yellow mealy
Mexlcan berries.

After recess closses were resumed. The surrounding countryside
offered subject matter for the elass in observation, Vhen the sun got
high in the sky, the pupils and teacher moved to a shadier spot and sat
in 8 circle in the grass to continue the lossons.? The hours passed hur-
riedly and the class in observation closed with a poem, which was in one

of the readers, and which the children memorized guickly:

0 wie herrlich, o wie schoen
Ist es in die Schule gehn!

At ten o'clock the children were dismissed for the day. The teacher
walked with them toward the pastor's home to lesve his report, and then
hurried home to cook his noon meal.

The sgchool days that folloved were gometimes interrupted by the arrival
of wagon trains from the coast with food and other necesgitiea. When these
articles were rationed %o the cltizens, school dismissed for the day so the

children could go to the commissary to get the rations their parents were

25e0le, Die Cypresse, p. 58.
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entitled to. The teacher, who was a young bachelor, also had to get his
provisiona3 because his salary for teaching consisted vartly of tuitien,
fifty cents per pupil per month and pald by the patrons, and partly of
rations from the soclety. The latter wers squivelent to eight dollars
per month.u

More exciting than the interruptions caused by the arrival of the
wagon trains, were those occasioned by the calves suskling the cows in the
pasturs, after several familles were pble to have milch cows, VWhen thia
happened the children were permitted to leave school to drive the calves

-home and pen them.5 This disturbance came to an end with the complétion
of the church for the school was then moved into the bullding,

The commissioners court agreed, Febrasry 20, 1849, to have the four
leagues of school land, that the county was entltled to, surveyed.6 After
neny delays, Andrew Bell Burleson, a surveyor from Travis founty, was en-
gaged in ﬁay,1852,7 to survéy three and one-half leagues of land, with
water and timber, and one-half league within the county‘a By September,
1853, the nacessary patents for the land were obtained.?

As the counbty school land was belng acquired, the citizens of New
Braunfels began to discuss the pessibility of securing a progressive eity

school. On February 17, 1853, at the city council meeting z committee

3Seele, Dig Cypresge, ». 58. 4Ih1d., . 56.
5Ibid., pp. 58-9.

600@@1 County Commissioners (ourt Hinutes, Vol, 4, ». 51. Hereinafter
called Minntes.

?Ivid., p. 165, 81vid., p. 168. 9Ibid., p. 246,
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was selected to draw up z plan for a schoel =znd present it at the next
clty council meeting, This comittee consisted of Conrad Sesbaugh, Julius
Bggeling, and J, ¥. Ferguson, all members ¢f the council., A plan was pre-
gented to the councll at its next meeting but acticn wos deferred until
April L, when in regular city council meeting the proposed plan was re—
vised and adopted, TFive citizens were chosen by secret ballaet to serve

as trustees,

The school plan was handed to Mr, Brvendberg, a trustee, for further
revision.l? All members of the board were present at the first session,
May 9, 1853, HMr. F. Mourean served ss searetary, =nd L. C. Ervendberg,
progided. The revized constitubtion waes read and adopted.ll Since it was
believed one hundred dollars per ysar would be furnished by the state
treasury, it was agreed %o chsrge a monthly tultion of twenty-five to
fifty cents per pupll. A committee was spnointed to find out how much
money could be ralsed by private suhscription.12

When the board met again, July 11, 1853, it found thet it could expect
to have seven hundred ninety-seven dollsrs and fifty cents available for
the scheol year snd planned to engage two teachers., The applicants for the
teaching positions were required to pass examinations glven by the board

of education;’3 and secordingly, iir. Heinrieh Guenther and Mr, Adolf

107shebuch 1943, p. 48,
Uzeitung, May 13, 1853, ». 2, c. 2.
121p3d., May 20, 1853, ». 2, c. 2.

131p4d., July 22, 1853, pv. 1, ¢. 6.
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Schlameus wers certified to teach the upper and the lover grades respectively.
School opened October 3. Hach teacher had to subdivide his group because
more than sixty children of different ages registered for classes. The
weekly schedule announced for the lower grades in both German and English
wasi

9 hours reading and writing

6 hours arithmetic

2 hours nature study

4 hours geography and history

1 hour story telling

1 hour grammar

2 hours singing

For the higher grades the schedule included:

k hours grsmmar

2 hours practice in composition or theme writing

2 hours reading and translation

5 hours English

3 hours arithmetic

2 hourg art

2 hours singingll"

By December the schools were well organized, The citizens were elated
becanss Comsl County recelived two hundred ninety dollars from the state, and
with the subseriptions from the clty government and private citizens, this
gave them over eight hundred dollars to conduct the school. They also re—
Jjoiced that four years hence the State of Texas would probably have the
best school fund in the union.ld

The thoughtful citizens helieved it would be possible to interest

other families to come te live in the comimmity, if New Braunfels had good

1hgeitung, Sews.23, 1853, p. 2, c. 3.

151pid., Dec, 16, 1833, p. 2, c. 6.
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schools. They alse believed that a good school would provide culture that
would be s blessing to the growth and development of the United States,16
The desirability of having a Germsn teacher for the lower grades was dis—
cussed. Since the youngz children did not understand the English langusge,
it vas decided to hire a German teacher for them, but to hire an English
teacher for the older pupila. The resnson for this was that individuals
of German descent rarely pronounce and enunciate English correctly, and
since English is the mother tongue of the United States, it was deemed es-
gsential to have the childrem tought that langusge by the best teacher thab
could be provided.l7

A county board of school commissioners was organized, March 25, 1854,
under an act of the legislature of Texas, entitled "An Act to Istablish »
System of Schools." This board divided the county into four school districts.

District One -~ The corporation limits of NWew Braunfels, with
the exception of the part of the clity lying above and north of the
Comal Springs.

Digtrict Two -~ Comel Town, Smithson's Valley, the Wrnco Springs
settlement,and all settlements adjscent $o0 the county road from
Comal Town to Smithsont's Valley.

District Three - The Vogel settlement, from the county line and
southwest limits to the corporation and thence to Cibolo, thence to
the 0ld Fredsricksburg road, to the corporation limits of Hew Braun-
fels., It was to include 2ll settlements between the lines and limits.

Distriet Four - A1l the remalning part of the county .l
At the May meeting of the school commissioners, C. B. Patton, chair-

man of a committee from District Four, presented a report of a meeting

101 tung, Dec. 16, 1853, p. 3, c. 1.
171ptd., Mar. 24, 1854, p. 2, c. 6.

lslviinuteg, Vol. B, ». 2.
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held within the distriect, which requested that District Four be subdivided.
The request was granted and hence the districte were to be known as Four,
Five, Six,19 Seven, and Eight, and the Chief Justice was ordered to call
elections for school trustees In each of these districts,

The board of trustees agreed to keep thse city school, which had grown
repldly, open twelve months of the year.zo It decided that Mr, Church, one
of the teachers, should teach =11 the English ¢lasses, Adolf Schlameus,
another teacher, should conduct the recding c¢lasses in the two lower grades.
He should also teach arithmetic, geography, and history in all grades, The
third teacher, Mr, Z, U, Holtz, shonld teach German penmanship and German
reading in the higher grades, and grammar, nature study, singing and art
in 211 the grades. All puplls were to report for the new term, January 2,
1855, at nine o'eclock in the morning, to the German Protestant Church,
vhere the classes would agaln be conducted., 21

In October,1855, it was decided that the children should have two
months vacabion during the year, The two months were to be divided into
short vacations of 'several doys and given at different seasons of the year.
It was further sgreed that esch child must pay tuiticz} for each month that
the school was in progress, even though the child attended only one or. two
weeks of a month,22

The New Braunfels School continued to progress im 1856. The state

194inutes, Vol, B, p. 7.
+20Zeitune, Dec, 1, 1854, p. 2, c. 1.

2lypid., Dec. 29, 1854, p. 3, ¢. 5.
221bid., Oct. 12, 1855, ». 3, c. 4,


sk03
Rectangle

sk03
Rectangle

sk03
Rectangle

sk03
Rectangle


32

hed passed a law, February 4, which permitted the trustees of each schgol
district to hold an election to tax the patrons a gpecific sum for school
purposes,23 The court granted the requests pf Wew Braunfels and Distriet
T™wo to assess a tax for school purposes and ordered the fax assessor-collec-
tor to collect the tax for the nine months beginning, April 1, 1856, and
ending, December 31, 1856.24 The best evidence of progress was the New
Bragunfels Academy, the first school building of the community, which was
dedicated under the direction of J. A. Stashely, one of the trustees, on
April 1, 1856.%% In July the trustees announced that no additional pupils
could be enrclled in the New Braunfels Academy until, October 1, because
the classes were %00 1a,rge.26 The crowded condition lead to the construe-
tion of a rock addition, 22' x 4h', on the morth side of the original
building.2?

Meanwhile, changes were being made in the school districts within the
county. The Waco Springs community and the Smithson's Valley settlers pe-
titioned the commissioners court to be separsted from District Two, and to
be permitted to set up thelr own school precincts. These petitions were
granted. The new school precincts, Distriet Nine and District Ten, were

organized.28

23Zeitung, Feb, 22, 1856, p. 2, ¢, 6.
“MMinutes, Vol. B, pp. 174~5.
?5%eltung, Apr. 11, 1856, p. 3, c. 2.
261bid., Jul. 4, 1856, p. 3, c. 4,
27Ibid., Oct, 31, 1856, p. 4, c. 1.

2Businutes, Vol. B, p. 227.
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On February 5, 1858, the legislature of Texas incorporated the Hew
Breunfels Academy for twenty years,27 and March 6, 1879, it renewed the
law.30 After the school was incorporated, the commisaioners court ap-
pointed three school examinera, George W, Kendsll,3l Hermann Seels, and
Ferdinand Lindheimer. On August 17, they appeared in court and took tile
cath of office as school examiners,32

By November,1861, seven school districts in the county had an enroll-

ment of 575 puplls and these were divided in the following manner:

The New Brsunfels Acedemy 311
Comal Creek (Ferdinand Wehls, teacher) 73
Hortontown (J. A. Kypfer, teacher) 61
Cibolo (4. Schlameus, teacher) 29
Comal Town (J. Mergels, tezcher) 50
Waco Springs (V. Henk, teacher) 31

Guadalupe Settlement (J. Bose, teacher) 2033
An interesting feature of the Academy was the school examination, as

conducted publicly, Mareh 28, and 29, 1867.34 The exsminations for the
fourth and fifth grades, the two youngest groups of children because grade
names were the reverse of the later system, consisted of tests in srithmetic,
oral readlng in both the English and German language, in speaking Englich,
and singing. The examlinsations for the third grade included tronslation

from the English langunge into the German. The second grade was tested in
arithmetic, 1;1 reading BEnglish and Germgn, in translation, in German grammar,

and in nature study; while the first grade was tested in mathematics, sgpe-

29Jahrbuch 1943, p. 58. 3O1bid., . 57.
31?‘1;;;11t6§. VOI. C| :p- }4’59 BEM.’ p; 634

331Ibid., p. 250

3Hge1tung, Har. 15, 1867, p. 3, o. 3.
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¢lally cube root and algebra, in English reading and translation, in geog-
raphy, in grammar, in physics, and in history in both the English and the
German language. On these dasys, exhibits of eallligrephy end drawlng vere
artistically arranged along the wslls of the classrooms, On Saturday
morning, iarch 30, the puplls of the three upper grades rendered a program
of declamations and songs.3d

A mass meeting was cazlled by the trustees of the lew Braunfels Academy,
June 22, 1873, to discusé the problem brought about by the new schoel law.36
The law had been passed by the thirteenth legislature and had closed all
public free schools, June 1, by withholding funds. The loeal citizens de-
cided to szgaln conduct the Academy as they had vefore the public free
school was organized by the state.37 The pupile registered on Mondsy, June
30, and classes started, July 1, with five teachers ip charge. The szme
textbooks were used that had been msed in the public free school, Tultion
for the pupils was one dollar and twenty-five cents per month for the three
2dvanced gro'ups and one dollar per month for the two lower groups.38

The children were never burdened with the problems of the school. The
perents encouraged them o be happy and carefree, and arranged special en-
tertainment for them, BEarly in the history of Hew Braunfels, the school
sponsored a masquersde during Shrove Tide and a pienic later in the year.39

The masquersde has survived for more then a hundred years but has been

3530t tung, Apr. 5, 1867, v. 3, ¢, 2.
361pid., Jun. 20, 1873, p. 2, ¢. 6.

371big., Jun. 27, 1873, p. 2, c. 2. 3B1pid., ». 3. ¢, L.

391pid., Apr. 3, 1868, v. 3, c. 2.
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changed in many respects to make 1t similar to g Mgy fete, and the picnie
has been discontinued as an affair for the whole school and has become an
event for special groups, such as.. a class or a club M0

The citizens of Comal County not only belisved in education for their
ovn children but were interested in schools for all children. When Callahan
County desired to organize schools, Comsl County, which owned school land
within Cgllghan County, resolved through its commlssioners court "to give
and grant unto the County Judge of Callshan County and his successors in
offlce, for publie froe school purposes four acres of land...known as part
of Survey No. 181."1 Again, in 189%, when Goleman County petitioned the
comnmigsioners court to sell a2 certain parcel of land to that county for
school purposes the court granted the petition. It ordered fhe land sold
for one dellar per acre and anthorized the County Judge to execute a deed
to said land to the County Judge of Coleman County and his sﬁccessors in
office, for public free school purposes,2

The Hew Braunfels Schools continued to grow, so in 1884, the Academy
was renovated znd enlarged.% A two room brick building was added as a
high school and s frame building was rented for school purposes, until a
bond election in 1913,1”4’ made it possible to erect = mew school building.
Unfortunstely the mew bullding was placed on the site of the old Academy

and made 1t necessary to tear down this historie building.%

KOFaats known to the writer as s citizen of New Braunfels,
Blysqutes, Vol. F, ». 296. b21p1a., Vol. @, p. 602.

435eele, A Short Sketch, p. 7.

Wiiinutes of he‘Board of Trustees, Hew Brounfels Indevendent School

L

t
District, Book &, p. 83. L51nid., . 147.
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Ten years later the cililzens of Comal Town or Werd Flve petitioned
the board of trustees to bulld = ward school for the elementary grades,
because the school was too crowded again.® ¥No definite steps were taken
until June,192L, when an slection ordered the board of trustees to issue
bonds*? to finance a building program. Two ward schools and s cottage
for home economics clusses were comstructed during the spring snd summex
of 19‘.25.1"8 but vhen classes moved into them in the fall there wers still
more children than classrooms. Soon additions were constructed at each
ward school, and in 1935, a gymasium was built on the high school canzi)us,
and a new school was built for the Latin-American children. These builldings
were constructed with free labor under the Civil Work Administrator.?
World War II crovded the schools to overflowing, In New Braunfels
nev buildings and additions to older builldings will be consiructed to
better care for the incressed enrollment. In the rural districts, consoli~
dation of schools and bus transportation are steps toward improving the

educational faellities in those areas,

1*5!~linu§ea of the Bosrd of Trustees, New Braunfels Independent School
Distriet, Book B, p. 174,

N?Ibid., Book D, . 28, %81p1d., pp. 56 and 72.

L91n14., ». 232.
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CHAPTER VI

THE NEWSPAPERS PUBLISHED IN COMAL COUNTY

The Neu Braunfelser Zelbtung, the oldest German language paper published
in the state, was lssued for the first time Hovember 12, 1852, Plane for
a newspaper had been discussed as early ss 1851, when Georg Distz, who wae
asslstant editor of the Neu Yorker Stastszeltuns, was visiting in Fredericks-
burg, Texas. It was belleved he would be willing to aceent the position
of efitor for the newspaper, but when this did not materialize, Hr.
Lackmann, citizen of Sen Antonioc, moved to Hew Brammfels, to assume the
editorship, however, he dled before the Zgitung could be orgenlzed.

Barly in 1852, a mass meeting was called for the purpess of organiz-
ing a stock company to publish a weekly paper. Three citizens of New
Braunfels, A, Rossy, Pastor Brvendberg, and Ferdinsnd J. Lindheimer, ap~
plied for the editnrship,l to which Mr. Lindheimer,2 was unanimously
slected. The money to purchase a printing préss snd other mabterials was
raised by subscription and each subscriber received a receipt which served
ag a share or shares in the company. In July,18%3, a Mr. George M. von

Ross, whoge identity 1s not known, was listed as co-editor and owner,s

lgeitung, Dec. 15, 1932, p. 17, ¢. 1. {This was the eightieth anni-
versary edition and larger then the regular issues,)

2Perdinsnd J. Lindheimer had been bora at Frankfort-on-the-Main, May
30, 1801, and had come to Texas 1n the sighteen thirties ofter hoving lived
in Hexico. There he had raised pineapples and bansnas. He served in the
War of Independence snd loter studied botany. In 1844, he joined the
Germans under Prince Solms and came with them to Hew Braunfels, where he
married one of the immigrants, and gerved the community in many ways.

3Zeitung, Dec, 15, 1932, p. 17, c. 1.
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but on December 1, 1853, he severed all connection with the paper.® Mr.
Lindheimer then bought all outstanding shares and became sole owner of
the enterprise.5

The Zeltung filled a need not only in Comal County, but also In
Gillespie and Medina Counties, where many Germsn-Americans resided. It
devoted itself to prixzting local news items, wolitical news of world in-
terest, snd it particularly tried to serve the farvm inbterests by bringing
information szbout plants and soils, sc this knowledge might bring economic
stability’to all vwestern colonists.® Ite editor believed the first duty
of any newspaper was to répnrt the news frankly end truthfully to the
resding publie, and, if in so dolng, some readers folt that their toes
were being stepped on, the publication were probadbly serving the best
public interests. The editor polnted out thet the real duty of German
inmigrants in Texas was to bulld ewlture, first, among themselves, and
gecondly, among thelr Anglo-American neighbors, by estsblishing schools,
libraries, and newspapers, snd by learning to master the arts and to think
or reason, Since the German—~Americans were slow to take the lead in com—
mmity enterprise, the Zeitupg challenged its subseribers to become aggres—
sive by inviting them to send comments and letters to the newszaapar.'?

Mr, Lindheimer had a proficient helper in the Swedlsh writer Karl

Jonas Ludvig Almquist, who later gained fame zs an author, and whose works

hZeituns, Dec. 2, 1853, p. 4, c. 2.
51bid., Nov. 23, 1877, p. 2, e. 2,
6ibid,, ¥ov. 12, 1852, p. 1, c. 1.

7Ibid., Mov. 12, 1852, ». 3, ¢. 2.
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have been translated into the other mejor languages of Zurone, In Hew
Braunfels he was known by the sssuned name Gustavi, Early in the twentieth
century the University of Stockholm sent professor Dr. J. Gustefson Berg
to America to retrace the footstevs of Almquist and especially to investi-
gate hig comnection with the New Braunfelser Zeitmg.e’

From 1852 until August 16, 1872,7 Mr, Lindhelmer worked diligently to
produce a weekly peper,lC and that he never failed is almost a miracle,
because he was nol a printer and had to depend on help to carry out the
technicality of printing. He was fortunate to secure the services of iir.

Hermann Schulz, one of the co-owners of the Frele Presse in San Antonioe,

who finally moved to New Braunfels and thus gave the Zeitunsz o permanent
end an excellent typesetter, This was a great advaniage for the continu~
abion of the paper, since German printers were rare in Pexss. Furthermore,
daring the Civil War, when help snd paper were difficult to get, Mr.
Lindheimer, with the help of his sons, courageously carried on, although
the newepaper wzs reduced to s one sheet issue of small size, It came out
in peculiar dress, depending on the paper available; sometimes white tissue
paper, necessarily printed on one side only; sometimes greem, groy, or
vellow in color, snd the texture of the paper, thick snd rough, like wall-
paper vather then regular newsprint, and usually printed on both sides of

the sheet. Iindheimer's strong adherence to the Confederacy made him some

87eltung, Dec. 15, 1932, p. 17, c. 1.
91vid., Wov, 23, 1877, ». 2, ¢. 2.

101bid., Rov. 16, 1877, p. 3, c. 2.
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personal enemies, but 1t certzinly helped the town and cou:nﬁy to go vamo-
lested,ll and his influence moy have led other citizems to serve the Con-
federacy, for in proportion to populstion Comal County had more volunteers
in the service than any other county in the state,1?

Hr. Anselm Eiband, loeal citizen, beought the paper in 1872, and con~
tinued as editor snd owner until his death,l3 in 1884.1% He was alert,
witty, and very outspoken, and had a keen gense of humor. He was an excel-
lent printer, and never wrote his articles to have them set, but rather
set them as he composad them.t5 His local news items, as well a5 the edi-
torizls, had a zest and color that made them more interesting than fictlon.
His helrs sold the Zeitung, in March 1886, to ifr, Frnst Koeblg, who had
been business manager =nd editor since HMr. Dibend's illness and d.eath.16
end who continued bo publish as excellent a newspaper as hisz predeceasors
had, (ﬂ

In addition to the regular Thursday edition of the paper, Hr. Koebig
published a Sundsy edition or Sommtassblatt der Neu Brounfelser Zeltuns
with the subtitles [Hachrichten entlane der Guadslupe, which contsined

mainly news from Hoys and Guadelupe Counties.l? ir. Kosbig was briefly

11764 tung, Wov. 23, 1877, ». 2, . 2.

12Jagr’tmc;h 1925, p. 49,

13Zeitung, Dec. 15, 1932, ». 18, o. 1.

14z, Bibend's tombstons shows the death dake: September 21, 1884,
15Zeitung, Dec. 15, 1932, p. 18, e. 1,

16;_12_1_6';., Har, 4, 1886, p. 5, o. 1, 17_1_131(_‘1_., Apr, 23, 1886, p. 1.
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followed by dJuliue Helm and A. G, Startz, local cltizens, as owners and
editors. later Indolph Lafrents, who was sditor of the Deubschtexanischen
Honatshefte, wvas editor.

In the eighteen nineties, the paper was published by the Neu Braup-

felser Zeitung Publishins Company, which consisted of Captain Julius

Giesecke, business manager, who had come to New Braunfels from Washington
Qounty, nnd of HeEver Chorch, printer, and Bugen Kailer, sditor, This
comnany produced a paper similsr to that which had been the accepted
standard of the community.

A& constant co-worker to all the early editors was Hr, Hermann Seele,
a man of sterling cheracter and surprisingly many accomplighments, He
contributed much to the wholesome development of the colony at New Braunfels.
Although he was a talented writer and had very definite idens, he shunmed
newspaper controversles and always tried to compronise when dlfferences of
opinion were voiced, The results of hils sfforts were a tolerance and co-
oneration for the best interssts of the community, and theilr influence
lasted throughout many years,

In 1899, kr. Church sold his laterest in the dbusiness to Captain

Glesecke, mnd Bugen Kailer sold to Mr, G, T. Oheim,18 whils Mr, Benjamin

18gsorge Frederick Oheim was born, Hay 7, 1865, in Munichk, Germany.
At the ags of fourtesen he came to Texas with an older brother and sehtled
ot Harrisbuarg. He worked as a cowboy and lagter as foremsn in o brass
foundry. He told the owner how to improve the foundry according to an
article in a German Bncyclopedia. The owner remodsled., Shorily thersafier,
a new hand declded to use a strong acld solution instesd of the usual di-
luted strength. The hot fimes killed him and injured Hr, Cheim's lungs.
When Oheim was able to travel he went to Comal County and accepted a posi~
tion as teacher in the Honey Creaek School, nsar Anhalt. Four years later
he taught the Watson School nesr Hew Braunfels. Then he bought an interest
in the Zeitung and spent the rest of his life as o publisher.
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¥. Neborgall, a local citizen, who had worked in the printing office from
early youth, also bought an interest in the business. Co-operation and
harmony seemed to be the slogen of the new orgsnization, and thelr team-
work produced s nevspaper of highest quality and a business that was a
credlt to the cmmnunity.19

Mr, Giesecke later sold his interest in the business to the two
younger men, who continued in the newspaper business until death., They
sponsored the eightieth amniversary edition of the paper in December
1932. In it bir, Obeim wrote that both partners were looking foruard to
the day when they would sond the centennial edition to the press,<0 but
this wigh was not to materialize, for Mr, Oheim died, Jume 5, 1947, and
Mr, Nebergall approximetely a yoar later,<: yet the New Breaunfelser Zeltung
continues to be igzued as a high class newspaper with Mr, Frederic Chein,
son of G. ¥, Oheim, as editor.??

The Hew Brounfels Hersld, an English language newspaper, has been
issued at Hew Braunfels since 1895, when it was founded by T. . Whitley
and Sons, of Austin, Texas, Unfortunntely, ths early editions of the
paper were nobt preserved and it is impossible to give its history or in-

formation about its journalistie style.23 Barly in the twentieth ecentury,

197eltung, Dec. 15, 1932, p. 32, ¢. 2. 201pid., c. 3.

2l3aets known to the writer through associstion with the Oheim and
Hebergnpll families.

227eitung, Aug. 10, 1950, p. 5, c. 1,

23%erbal information from lir. Chories W, Scruggs, editor of the New
Brounfels Herpld.
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fir. A. 0. Coers, owned and edited the Herald, but in 1914, he sold it %o

lir. F. Pausch and Albert Imdwig, local citizens, although Mr. Coers con-
tinied as editor and business mza.na,g&)r.zl’L Later Mr. Tausch sdited the paper
for a number of years before D. O. Bell and Son {fdgar) bought 1t and served
as elitor and buginess manager., In 1929, HMr. Charles V. Scruggs, of San
Antonio, Texas, came to New Braunfels to manage and edlt the paper, which

he bought in Harch,1930, and continues %o own and edit.25

geitung, Aor. 2, 1914, ». 5, c. 1.

2Dew Brounfels Hereld, Mar. 7, 1930, ». 1.
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CHAPTER VII
COMMUNICATION WITHIN THE dOU'ﬂ‘I’Y AND

WITH THE QUTSIDE WORLD

The iomigrants realized immediately that they were practically.cut-
off from the outside world, for only the road to Seguln, over which they
had come to New Braunfels, and the military highway from San Antonio to
Hacogdoches linked them with eivilization., These, by comparison with
roads as they had lmown them in Europe, were only tralls, The pionsers
were also aware that ferries and bridges were mneedsd and hoped to build
them as soon as roads could be leid out, Thai% these problems were glgantic
they apprecinted fully, and faced them with fortiltude and courage. |

In laying out New Brawnfels, engineer Zink named the two main streets
San Antonio and Seguin, and esch led to the road which connected New Braun—
fels with the town for which it was named. In 1848, the county commis-
sioners court divided the roads into two groups, first class and second
class, The first clogs roads were, the old Wacogdoches road, crossing the
Gusdalupe near Seele's house, and beginning =t the east end of Seguin
Street; the vroad to Seguin and Victoria; the road to San Antonio; the
road starting at John Torrey's mill and crossing the Guadalupe above
Growford!'s farm; and the new road to Fredsricksburg: while the sscond class

roads were divided into six road precincts with a roadmaster for each,l

100:11:43‘1 Qounty Commissioners Court Mimutes, Vol. A, p. 33. Herelnafter
ealled Minutes,
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Hach year several rural rosds were developed,? and in 1854, a new
road to San Antonio was surveyed by F, Grothaus of Danville.— Two years
later, iir. Lindheimer offered to print the new road law in the Zeitung
in the Germsn langusge and let the commissioners court have ©mne hundred
copies of the psper for thres dollars and fifty cents, so the roadover~
seers, who were not well versed in the Bnglish langusge, could read the
law in Germen,
clerk to get the hundred copies and to distridbute them to the roadover—

seers. The road precincts were revised sgain in 1860, The Oity of New

The court accepted the offer and instructed +€he county

45

Braunfels received jurisdiction over the precinets within the city 1imits,d

Increase in ponulstion and the opening of new sgricultural communities

created o need for more roads.

February 16, 1887, the court divided the

county into thirty rosd precincts and named thege overseers:

- 13

OO~ o\l W o =
- - . - » ) L] [

o
o O

b

15 0

Fritz Harms

Carl Krueger
Avgust Blsmann
Theodor Schwab
Conrad Wenzel
Peter Hubertus
Adolph Jonas

Alex Schweb

George Heitkamp
Guetav Bielstein
Fritz Kunkel
Friederich Heidrich
Theo, Bose

August Kruckeneyer
Wilhelm Speeht

Ziinutes, Vol. &, ». 59.

43bid., p. 226.

61bid., Vol. ¥, p. 638.

16.
17.
18,
19.
20,
21.
22,
23.
2k
25.
26,
27.
28,
29.
30,

Gsorge Fischer
Heinrich Eraft, Jxr.
Joseph Halm

¥illiam Hoffmann
fustav Dsuer

I. B, Bose

Heinrich Eruse
Aagnst Schulze, Jr,
Heinrich Warnecke
Tritz Trappe

Oscar Baetge

Qtto Pantermuehl
Carl Scheel

John Schsefer, Jr.
Iwan Wallhoei'ere‘

3Ibid., Vol. B, p. 80.

51Thid., Vol. O, p. 168,
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Road and bridge coastruction required money, therefore, in 1903, the
commissioners court avalled itself of the opportunity to issue road and
bridge bonde under an mct of the twenty-eighth legislature,? and continmues
te use similar measures to finamnce construction of roads and bridges., In
1912, the court widened Watson Lane,B Timmermann Lame and Wuest Lane® to
acoommnodate automobile traffie,

The EState of Texas was also rosd conmscious, and in 1914, constructed
the Austin-Son Antonio Post Road, a forerunner of Highway 81, Comal County
contributed its share, $39,000,00, in county funds snd an additional do-
nation from the citizens, which was deposited in the New Brzunfels State
Banle, znd used when the county funds werse exhansted, 1V dgnuary 27, 1915,
the court zccepted the bid of A, . Clopton, rozd contractor, to build the
Comsl County portion of the road.ll After the Unlted States Senlor Highway
Ingineer had issued o stabtement that 2ll specificsiions had been met, the
sourt sccepted the rosd, Tehruary 28, 1916, and ordered that the contractor
be paid.12

Hegsvy traffic between Austin and San Antonio called for congtsznt re-
psir worl,13 The highway depzrtment soon realized that a wider and
straighter ropd were needed to accommodate the traffic with o certaln
measurs of safety, Hany minor changes and improvements were made, but not

until 1934 was the new concrete highway bridge aeross the Guadaslupe ab

7uinutes, Vol. I, p. 252, Bipid., Vol. X, p. il
911)1:1., . 568, 101131@., . 61k,
1l1pid., Vol. L, p. 5b. 121p1a., p. 209.

131pia., p. 455.
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Hew Brmunfels constructed and the entire highway re-built. Heavy traffic
during World Wer II made constant repair work necessary and while New
Breunfels, ot lts one hundredth birthdsy anniversary, was linked to neigh-
bors north and south by this super road, the citizens realized that road
construction would have to econbtinue indefinitely.

The northern part of the county also needed roads, In May 1921, the
road originally desigunated as the Blanco-Smithson's Valley road, became o
part of State Highway 46. The ecounty engaged Joe 0Oaldwsell, an engineer,
and under his supervision construcied its portion of the road.1* Reinhard
Bremer and Alvin Yeber, freeholders, who 1lived near Blanco, petitioned the
court to changs the road for the convenience of themselves and the public.l5
The court appointed five citizens, EBd. J. Ruebel, W. H. Adams, Gus. Kretz-
neier, Brnst Herbst, and Henry Bender, as a Jury of View, to lay out and
describe any change of road, and to make a report of its findings to the
court at the next term,16 This report wag reviewed by the court, Harch 13,
and approved. The court ordered that damages be paid Ben R, Smithson, over
vhose property part of the road would be 1lald and classified the road as
first class. The overseer of the precinct opened and worked the road,1?
and the court visited Ben R, Smithson and obtalned his consent to eree$ a
fence across his land, as outlined by the Jury of View,18

Since funds to cemplete the highwsy were insufficient, the court de-

cided to go before the highwsy commission and agree upon plans to raise

Wiinutes, Vol. M, p. 276. 151bid., p. 347.
161bid., p. 348. 171p14., ». 365.

181pia., p. 369,
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funds.lo After terms were arranged, construction continued with some
chenges in the plans and specifications, such as the re-location from the
intersection on Lande Street snd west to the city limits of Hew Braunfels
to o point 1.4 miles west to Klagppenbach H111.20 In 193%, the road was
connected with Highway 66 at a point 1.5 miles northwest of Hew Braunfels,
and Comel County and Bexar County jointly built the highway at Bulverde
~8 specified by the State Highway Engineer.zl

The second class rosds were not neglected becouge of highway construc~
tion. A new rond connecbing Marienthal with the Hew Braunfels-Fischer Store
road was surveyed by Alfred R, Rothe, county surveyor. The commismsioners
court anproved it and ordered it opened and worked by the roadoversgeer of
precinet three.?? The Sattler or River Rosd was changed from a third class
road tc a second class roesd and opened and worked , 23

Heanwhlle, the cltizens of Hew Brrunfels were aware of the dust in
their streets during hot, dry, swamer days and of the mud and slush during
the rainy season, They resolved to tarviate San Antonieo gnd Seguin streets
and the area around the Hain Flaza.2% The program was extended to neigh~
boring areas until all the streets in the business section were paved and
most of the streets in the residential section, In 1939, asphalt was put
on 16,000 square yerds of hard surfaced roed ab Waco Springs,25 and many

county roads have since heen similarly treated,

19imtes, Vol. M, p. 476, 201pid., Yol. i, »., 492,
211bid,., Vol. 0, ». 197. 221p14,, Vol. H, b. 49.
231p3d., p. 91. 2h1pid., Vol. L, n. 380.

251pia., Vol. P, p. 211,
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The ferries hsve been dlscontinued in the county, although they wers
once an important means for crossing a river, The sebtlers, who had found
it necessary to camp on the east bank of the Guadalupe until its flood
waters receded sufficlently to mzke passage possible, inslisted on building
= ferry at the mouth of the Comsl. Vhen Hortontown, the settlement on the
enst baunk of the Guadalupe developed, thelr hoves were razlized. The com-
mlsslioners court issued = license, at eight dollars per yesr, to Justus
Kellner, on Wovember 20, 1848, to operste s ferry snd specified that charges

for ferrying should bes

1 wagon and tesm $1,00
1 man and horse (out of counby) 0,20
1 man and horse (in county) 0,10
cattle and horses (per hesd) 0.10
sheen,goats, hogs (per head) 0.0526

In July 1849, James Lamon, o carpenter, was instructed to build a
ferryboat, forty-four feet long, and twelve feet wide. The boat was to
be of cypress and osk, =nd when delivered the court would pay two hundred
thirty dollars for it.27 It was placed at the mouth of the Comal or at
the old ferry 1:>1:=..ce.28 To the 1848 list of cherges for ferryling were
added: |

1 empty wagon, buggy, or sarrisge $0.75
1 footman 0.10
1 extrs yolk of omen or span of horses 0.1029

The next yesr the rates for the night ferriage were set at double the

dry rates.30 The license tax was incressed to twenty-five dollsrs per

26_'I_fg_nut@_§_, Vol. 4, p. 41, 271p1d., . 63.
281p1d., ». 71. 29Ibid., p. 73.

30ibid., ». 100,

R s iy
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annum and issued to the estate of Justus Kellner in 1853, but Carl
Berdenwerpar scinslly opsrated the ferry and furnished a surety bond
of $1,000.00.71

The increase in population by 1858-9, made two ferries desirsble.
One, st the ususl ferry place or the mouth of the Comal; the other, sboub
a mile north of New Braunfels between the premises of Friederich Kretz-
meier, a farmer of Hortontown, and land belonging to Gentry and Seabaugh,
on the west bank of the Guadalupe,’2 The ferry at the Comal was to be
operated by Carl Floege instead of Bardenwerper. The county improved the
road when a review of the contract with Justus Kellner revealed that the
rozd wag a public county rosd.33 The second ferry was operated by Hr,
Kretzmeler, after he had filed the required bond., 34

Two years later, another citizen, Louis Brumme, became the operator
of the ferry at the Comal and the licengse tax was reduced to five dollars
per year for esch ferry operator, Ferry rates remained the same until
1863. Then the ferry operators were reguired to place a sign, bearing

ferry rates, where all passengers crossing the ferry could read 1t.36

1 losded wagon or other yehicle of 4 or 5 yokes of oxen $l,2537
1 loaded wagon with 3 yokes of oxen 1.00
1 loaded wagon with 2 yokes of oxen .75
1 loaded wagon with 1 yoke of oxen .50
1 empty wagon with 1 yoke of oxen .30
1 empty wagon with 2 yokeg of oxen 140
1 empty wagon with 3 yokes of oxen .50
1 empty weagon with 4 or 5 yokes of oxen .75

31Miggute,s, Vol. A, p. 234. 321b1d., Yol. G, p. 99.

331bid., ». 88, 3@1},1@._, p. 95,

351pid., p. 196. 361psd., p. 258.

37Ivid., ». 257.
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1 lozded wagon with 5 or 6 horses or mules $1.25
1 loaded wagon with 4 or 5 horses or mules 1.00
1 londed wagon with 2 or 3 horses or mules .75
1l losded wagon with 1 horse .50
1 wagon or smbulsmce loaded with passengers and drawn

by 4 horses or mules 1.00
1 loaded wagon or carriage with passengers and drawn

by 1 to 3 animals .75
1 empty wagon or othsr wehicle drawn by 1 horse or male .25
1 empty wagon or other vehicls drawn by 2 or 3 animals .40
1 empty wagon or other wehicle drawn by 4 to 6 animals .75
1 horse and rider .10
1 foot passenger .05
horses, mules, cattle (per head) .05
sheep, goats, hogs (per head) .0338

In 1870, the EKretzmeier ferry, as the ferry across the Guadalupe
north of New Braunfels wae known, was operated under the firm name, Brandt
and Urban. Adelph Urban, member of the firm, was licensed by the com-
migsioners court as opera.tor.39 The court granted permlesion to increase
the toll charges $0% in case of high water, and stated that four feet
above normal wes considered high water, 40

Fritz Schulze, local farmer, tovk charge of the briginal ferry at
the mouth of the Comal in 187141 Due to Schulze's failure to keep the
ferry open, the court ordered, October 26, 1872, that Florence Kreuz, a
citlzen, have boats ready by February 1, 1873, to operate a ferry.uz
#r, Kreuz operated the ferry until July,1877, when he petitioned the court
to permlt him to discontinue the ferry. 43

Shortly before ir. Kreuz took over ths Comsl ferry, Samuel Hather and

Otto Groos, residents of the county, petitioned the court to let them es-

38uinutes, Vol. €, p. 258. 391p3d., Vol., D, p. 196.
q’OIbid..g P- 197. L"I—I}id." pu 226.
I3

21pid., p. 299. “31pid., Vol. E, p. 383.
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tablish and furnish a ferry on the Guadalupe, a few hundred yards above
the old Kretzmeler ferry. This petition was granted®# and a license
issued upon payment of the five dollar license fee iS5

Bridges were soon te take the place of ferries at the various cross—
ings of the Guadalupe, and ferry roads becaums ugseless. Finally, in 1922,
the court considered and granted » petition of Chas, Eweling, C., VW, Welsch,
Otto Luersen, Sr., Hugo Schumamn, Otto Baetge, 0. A.Gruene, Robert
Linnsrtz, #H, ¥, Kraft, and BEd, Preiss, to close up the ferry road, which
was the only evidence left of the long discontinued ferry, Thus the once
useful ferries became ensci;fmcﬂ;.“’5

The first bridge in the county was bullt across the Comal approximstely
where the Clemens dam was later erected, at the foot of iMill Street and
leading from New Braunfels to Comal Town.*7 Action for the bridge started
in the City Council of Hew Braunfels, May,1853, and Mr, James Ferguson,
member of the council, solicited the help of the commissioners court in the
undertaking. The court postponed action until after the August electlon,
which pertained 1o a special tax levy to build s county court house and
Jail.48

While the city council was walting for the decision of the court,
there was much controversy gbout the location of the bridge, for L, Henne,

a proninent merchant, and others, vetitioned to have the bridge built at

Miinntes, Vol. D, p. 292. M5ibsd., p. 29%.
L61bid., Vol. M, p. 351, 471044, Vol. B, p. 78

481pid., Vol. 4, p. 225,
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the foot of S=n Antoenio Street,L"s' where the new concrete bridge, built in
1923, 1s located., A canvass of the citizeans for donations to finsnce the
bridge indicated that more were pledging subsoriptions for a dbridge at the
foot of Mill Street than at San Antonio Street.50 The commissioners court
approved the contract for the bridge, after it hod been explained by Mr.
Julius Bggeling, Mayor of New Bramnfels.’l This contract called for
$1,485.00 worth of masonry ﬁy HMr, G. Gottherd, and $1,765.00 worth of wood
vork by carpenter, H. &. Beringer.532 The court contributed six hundred
dollars, in the form of three one hundred dollar orders on the county
tressury, drawn January,1855,53 and three similar ordsrs dated March 19,
1855, signed by W. A, Andross, Chief Justice of Comal County, and attested
by G. Seabaugh, County 0lerk, 54

The high water, during the summer of 1869, made the citizens realize
that a higher bridge was needed across the river,55 In October, 1871, the
county court contributed to such a bridge,56 but never profitted thershy.

On the night of June 8 o 9, 1872, New Braunfels had a cloudburst, during

WOuinuges, Vol. B, p. 75.

50zeitung, Dec. 8, 1854, p. 2, e. 1.
5lyinutes, Vol. B, p. 78.

52Zeitung, Jan. 5, 1855, ». 2, ¢, 3.
53Minutes, Vol. B, ». 79. 54}:‘3&-9 p. 91.

55adele Resczeynskl, unpublished Legter, dated July 26, 1869. This
letter is part of a collection belonging to Mrs, Resczeynski's granddanghter,
Yirs, &, H, Henderson.

551‘-'§in11te§, Vol. D, p. 230,
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which a little over twelve inches of rsin fell, and the bridge washed
away. Torrey's mill, with its expensive dam, and several small bulldings
of the Landa Mills were also washed away, while Dr, Koester's mill suffered
much damage.57

Undaunted by this misfortuns, the citizens went to work with new de-
termination to bridge the stresm. This time Mr. Carl Floege, contractor,
constructed a bridge. When New Braunfels again experienced s thunderstorm,
November 28, 1875, the citizens were concerned zbout the bridge. When
Sunday morning dawned, the streets of the town lotked like = sea and every-
thing that had not been securely fastened was floating away. The Comal had
risen fifteen feet by Sunday noen and an anxious crowd waiched the racing
flood, as i1t carried wood, fence ﬁosts, and large trees with it, As the
people realized that the bridge was submerged six to elght feet, they won~
dered whether it would withstand the test., Late Sunday night, after the
flood waters had fallem, lir, Yoseph Faust, Mayor of Hew Braunfels, accem~
panied by h:i;s friends, 0{to Rennert, William Kessler, snd Anselm Eiband,
went back to the bridge site to see what damage i;ad been done, They were
grateful when they saw the bridge still standing and the next morning, Mr.
Floege stated that ift was not "plue Mondsy! but "bridge Momiay."58

The inhabitants of the rural areas mcross the Guadalupe were also
anxious to discontinue ferries snd build a bridgze. Their problem of

choice of loczbion wae even more complicated, some preferred a bridgse at

57Zeituns, June 14, 1872, p. 2, c. 4.

581pid., Nev, 23, 1855, p. 1, c. 6.
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Hew Braunfels, vhere travel between Austin snd San Antonio would be facili-
tated, but others preferred a bridge above New Braunfels at the Kretzmeler
ferry place.39 Since the banks of the Guadalupe were steeper than those

of the Comal, bridge building was even more costly along the Guadalupe,
therefore, it was not until 1885, that any definite action could be taken
in the matter.

In Hay,1885, the court appropristed rosd funds to engage an engineer
to malre plans end specifications for a bridgs across the Guada.lupe;éo
whereupon W, R, Freeman, Civil Engineer, was engaged. He located and
gurveyed a place two hundred yards belew the bridgs of the Intermational
and Great Northern Rallway Company, and drew plans and specificatlons for
a bridge. The court accepted these plans, February 13, 1887, and the
county judge called for sealed hHids 0 be recelived by the court wntil,
April 4, 1887, H. B, ¥ischer, County Judge, Chas., Buehler and Chas.
Alves, Commissioners, acquired the right-of-way, for the proposed bridgs,
from H., Timmermann and A, L, Kessler, frseholders, who owned the lond de~-
gired for the right-—of—way.él

The bids were opened, April 5, 1887, and King Iron and Bridge Manu-
facturing Company, of Cleveland, Ohio, were found to be lowest bidder at
$25,600.00, December 27, the court accepted the bridge from the contrac-

tor and ordered the bolance due the King Company be _paid.52

592eitune, Hov. 23, 1855, ». 1, c. 6.
60sinutes, Vol. P, p. 509. 611p4d., Vol. @, p. 5.

621p14,, p. 67.
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In 1894, when the City of Hew Braunfels contemplated building = bridge
over the Comal Creek in Seguin Street, the county court decreed that one
thousand dollars be contributed to the building fund.®3 Ten years later
the county awarded a contract to George E. King Bridge Company, Dallas,
Texas, at $12,498.00, to bulld a bridge at Baper's Crossing on the Guada-~
1upe,54 which bridge ’che. court received, December 1, 190465

Low water bridges were also built, One across the Guadalupe at the
Gruene Crossing,66 another over the Waco Springs Oreek.57 3Still other low
water bridges were built across the Guadalupe, in 1918, ut the Kraunse and
Baetge Fords,b8 another at Spless Bottom.69 In 1920, Bexzar County and
Compl County Jointly built the re-eanfaerced concrete bridge over the Cibolo
Oreek on the Nacogdoches Road,70 and in 1921, across the Cibolo at Bulverds, 71

Preliminary surveys for a new hridge across the Comzl Creek in Seguin
Street were ordersd by the court, April 13, 1925, and Terrell-Bartlett
Engineers, Inc., of Ban Antonio, werse engaged to make the survey.72 In
July, after the survey had been completed, the court petitloned the State
Highway Commission for Federal and State Ald to erect a concrete bridge

across the Comal Creelk,?3 which request was granted and the bridge con-

structed. ¥
63linutes, Vol. G, p.542, 64p1a., Vol. I, p. 260.
651bid., p. 349, 661big., Tol. E, p. 173.
671bid., Vol. L, p. 8L, 68Ibigd,, p. 486,
691114, , p. U489, 701pia., Vol. M, p. 158.
71Ibid., p. 256. 721pgd., Vel. N, . 56.

731bid., p. 95. 7Hpid,, p. 97
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In 1934, when Highway 81 was built, the conerete bridge thet was con-
structed across the Guadalupe, approximately five hundred yards below the
old steel bridge, gave New Brounfels a new connection with points ta the
north and south. Hany of the hopes and dreams of the first settlers were
realized by 1945, the hundredth anniversary of the founding of the town,
sven, the railroad, of which Prince Solms had visions, had become a reality.
Ip 1876, the first concrete steps toward railroad building had been taken,
when the county court set aside three hundred dollars teward bridge con-
struction, both road and railroad, across the Guadelupe.’o

Ag early as NHovember 29, 1852, the citizens of Comal County called a
railroad meeting in the court house,76 and formed two committees o pro~
mote rallroad construction, The first committee consisted of three members
only, Dr, W. Remer, J. F. Torrey, and H, Seele. It was to correspond with
the directors of the Houston~Sen Antonia Rallway Association, and the
second, snd lorger conmittes, consisted of Ferdinsnd J. Lindheimer, V,
Sippel, Dr. W, Hemer, L. O. Ervendberg, J, F. Arnold, ¥, Seekaiz., G,
Elappenbach, V., A. indross, D, lHurchison, and J. Harmg, This group wos
t0 acqualnt the leglslature with the wishes of the citizens,77

Again in September,1875, the citizens held = mass meeting, which
chose br, A, I. Kessler, president of the body, and Mr. G. ¥, Groos,

secretary. After a lengthy discuseion, Mr, H, Seele, explalned the danger

75Hinutes, Vol. E, 1, 325.
7671 tunz, Hov. 26, 1852, p. 4, c. 2.

77Ibid., Dee, 3, 1852, n. 2, c. b,
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Hew Braunfels would face, if the railrosnd were to build around the town
rather than through 1t. Thereupon, r. William Clemens, Jr,, moved that
a committee of mine cltizens be slected to negotiate wlth i, Pisrce,
Presldent of the Columbus Reilrosd. The committee was to offer him the
sum of §75,000,00 payable in bonds, at 7% interest, and dating from the
day thet o depot had been completed within the radius of one snd one-fourth
miles from the court house and a train ran regulsrly through town, The
motion carried,?8 and the committee, which wae elected, sent a telegram
to Mr. Pilerce, who came to Hew Braunfels in December, but no sgreement
was reached.?? His line bullt through Marlion, rather than through Hew
Braunfels, 80

The Intermational and Great Horthern Rsilroad Company was reorgenized
in July,1879, and then sterted building a 1ine from Austin to Sen Antonio.Bl
Vhen the surveyors for the line arrived in New Braunfels they asked the
mayor whether the citizens would glve the right-of-way to the railroad and
plso twenty acres of land for a depot.82 The city raised the $13,000.00

needed for the right-of-way and depot,83 and the first frain to Hew

78ze1tung, Sep.. 17, 1875 p. 3. . 3.
791bid., Deo. 10, 1875, p. 3, c. 2.
B01bi1a., June 6, 1879, p. 3, e. 2.
8lipsid., July &, 1879, ». 3, c. 3.
82%,, Hov. 28, 1879, ». 3, ¢. 2.

Ik 3 o £
83£m unpublished letter of MHiss Clars Heilig, who was s young girl o
ey Breunfels while the rallroad was belng construeted, gives ?n i.ccou:;:ted
of the excitement in town as the road neared completion, The lettier,
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Breunfels from Falestine arrived, December 1, 1880, and the first train to
San Antonio, was run over the line February 16, 1881.84

Horry londa, industrialist, interested the Missouri, Eonsas, and
Toxas Rallway Compeny to bulld to Hew Braunfels, in 1900.85 The commie-
sioners court donated the right~of-way over the Comal County Poor Farm
to the Katy end authorized fhe county judge to execute a deed to the rail-
way.% The road was soon built, and with the alrerdy established Inter-
national and Great Northern Rallway, gnve the comminity access to products
from all parts of the world snd a chance to market any local surplus.

The motor-freight lines have been estsblished more recently. They
contribute mony tons of freight per yeer to make New Braunfels a busy trade
center,

The comsunity hos two other important means of communication. It
enjoys the services of the Western Union Telegraph Company, which estab-

1ighed au office in New Braunfels in 1867, snd those of the Bell Telephone

Hovember 24, 1880, and translated from the German language, reads in part:
"Last Sunday the locomotive ceme whistling inte town for the first time.

All day there were such crowds, one could hardly get through. In the after~
noon, when g friend and I arrived at the end of the line, the conductor
asked the ladies if they would care to ride the four miles to camp with

him. Ye two, and sbout twelve others, and just as meny men went. The
others did not have the courage to go. It was really foolhardy of us to

go, for we all stood on a platform, and thus rode over the Guadalupe bridge.
It is eighty-five feet high."

840010, A Shory Sketch, p. 7.

85Hprry Ionda, As I Bemember, p. 72. This 100-page auloblography was
published in 1945, after Mr, Lands had retired from szetive huginess, In 2
large measure 1t is a story of Few Braumfels and =211 south Texas, It was

printed by Carleton Printing Compeny, San Antonio, Texas.

86uiputes, Vol, H, p. 572.
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Company, which establishéd a line and office in 1884,87 The telephone
company has enlarged its services to include Solms,88 Bulverde,89 Soring
Branch,90 Hencock,9L and other rursl commmnities, as well as long distance
gervice to all parts of the world. These services have changed the town
from the once isolated wilderness mettlement, to a city with world wide

communication faclilities.

878@919, A Shopt Sketch, p. 7.

88jiinutes, Vol. H, p. 209. 891p14., vel, K, p. 212.

901nid., p. 325. 911n1d., Vol. M, p. 463,
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CHAPTER VIII

CHURCHES

The First Protestant Church of New Breunfels, now kmown ss the Evan—
gelicwl ond Reformed Chureh, is not only the oldest chureh in Comal County
but also the oldest corporationl therein, On October 5, 1845, under an
nct, approved by the Oongress of Texas, January 30, 1845, which suthorized
the appointment of trustees,? the church was incorporated, and the act of
incorporstion wes duly recorded at Sam Antonio, on November 6, 1845, in
the records of deeds for Bexar County, Texas.3 DIven before the church
was incorporated services were held esmch Sunday under a grove of elm and
hackberry trees at the foot of the Versinsherg, and theme were continued
until a building could be constructed. ¥

A simple frame structure was planned to be built on the lot the
society hod eet aside for the Protestant Congregoation, and the cornerstone

of the building was lsid Jenuary 8, 1846.5 The charch was dedicated on

lHermann Seele, A Short Sketch of Comal County, Texas, ». 7. Here-
inafter celled 4 Short Slkeich.

2xirchenbuch fuer die Deutsch~Protestentischo Gemeinde in lem Zraun-
fols, Comal Gounty, fexas, o, 2. Hinute book of the chureh, hereinafter
called Church Book. Its companion volumes will be named for the yeor a
particular volume was started, as 1912, 1925,

3Ibid., ». 3.

R

L”Seele, A Short Sketech, ». L,

5¢hurch Bogk, p. 17-
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Palm Sunday, April 5, 1846, but without benches because the congregation
d1d mot have funds to provide all the furnishings immediately.®

When Pastor Ervendberg tendered his resignation, April 14, 1850,7
only one minlster applied for the position, namely G. ¥. Zisenlohr, who
later became a noted publisher of Oinoinna$i, Ohlo. He was elected,
Jenuary, 1851, to serve the New Braunfels Congregation,® but he was unsble
to arrive until March, so Mr, Hermsnn Seele conducted the worship services
on Sundeye.? Soon after the arrival of Reverend Eisenlohr, 1t was decided
teo conduct services in Comal Town every two weelrs, These pervices wers
held on Sunday mornings hefore services in the Hew Braunfels Church, for
the convenlence of the cltizens of fomnl Town. Services were also held
on three holidsys, snd communion wes celebrated twice a year. On the days
of communion in the Comal Town Church, lr. Seele conducted services in the
clty church, 0 so Pastor Bisénlohr was free to serve commmnion. Services
in Comal Town were continued until 1856, when the Comzl Town Congregation
Joined the city chureh, 11

After six years of faithful service, Reverend G, V. ZElsenlohr left
Hew Braunfels for Cincinnatl, and the congregation was fortunate to ob-

tain the services of August Wilhelm Schuchard, 12 who continued to serve

6¢hurch Book, p. 18. 71p1d., p. 35.
8;_@-_.: P. 54- 9;13‘;@-) D. 55'
101p3d., ». 58. 1l1pid., p. 60.

127he identity of Reverend Schuchard, hefore his coming to Hew Broun-
folm, is not disclosed in any of the records that the writer has investi-
gated,
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the congregation until his death, February 29, 1876,13 when the Reverend
Bernhard Sickellt‘} came 0 lead the church, and conducted the regular
Germpn services, but =lsc conducted serviees in the English language on
Sunday sfternoons, > He was succeeded by Mr. G. Muelder, of Allegheny
County, Pennsylvania.l‘s

Both the interior and the exterier of the church hal been improved
from year to year, so that the congregatioan was Justly prouvd, June 27,
1868, when an eisht stop pipe orgen wes dedicated.l? i, C. F. Blum, who
had formerly accompanied the hymne on his trombons, beceme the orga:nist.la

In Wovember,1874, definite plans were laid for s rock church, such
25 had been contemplated for ssveral years, for the members of the conm-
gregation had subseribed $6,000,00 o-ﬁ the petitions fér g new building.
The building was to be erected on the some lot where the old church stoed,
facing Seguin Street, and the following building committee was slected:
J. Heyer, F. Geue, Hermann Seele, E. Bbensberger, Oarl Flosge, J. Lang-
konf, J. P. Triesch.l? This comnittee choss J. Langlkonf as supervisor

of construction, and rough ilimestone 28 building material.20 By Jaly

13Chureh Book, p. 110,

1L“Ibid., u, 113. (This reference does not indieate where Pastor Sickel
came from nor does it revesl where he went when he left New Braunfels.)

15zeitunz, Dec. 1, 1876, p. 3, c.Z2. 151'1:5.4., Jan, 24, 1879, ». 3, ¢. 3.
17¢hurch Bogk, p. 102. 181p14., p. 108,
197eitunz, Dec. 4, 1874, p. 2, c. 6.

20Chureh Beok, 1. 104,
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18, 1875, the foundstion snd lower section of the building were completed,
and the cornerstone was publiely laid with a special .ceremony. On May 18,
1879, with the former Pastor Eisenlohr as guest speaker, the building was
dedicated,2l

The old frame parsonags was replaced by a two story, yellow brick home,
in 1911, and a8 soon as the Reverend G, Mornhinweg femily had moved into
the new parsonage, the old one wes converted into classrooms for the Sunday
School,22 for which purpose it served until 1930, when the congregation
built am anditorium, which was dedicated May 11, 1930.23 1In later years
1t was named Seele Parish House, in honor of Mr, Hermann Seele, the first
gsecretary of the ehurch, and his som, Hr. Harry C. Seele, who served as
secretary from May, 1902, until November, 1924, 2k

When the coﬁgregation realized that the young people were losing in~
terest in the church becsuse they did not understand the German langnage
well encugh to participate in the services, steps weré talren to arrange
for services in the English language, Otto ¢, Bassler, student minister
frmn Eden Theolegical Seminary, who had done Home Hission Work, was in-
stalled on Sentember 25, 1927, as the fi;st minister to conduct exclusively
Baglish services. Four years lzter he resigned his position to go to

Highland, Illinois,25 and for the ensuing year the Reverend G, Mormhinweg,

2lzeitung, Moy 16, 1879, p. 3, ¢. 1.

22Verbal information from lirs, G. kornhinweg, the first occupent of
the new parsonage.

23Church Book 1925, 1. 9%. 2h1pia,, 1912, p. 28%.

251Ibid., 1925, p. 115.
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who had been Germen minister of the church since 1899, conducted the services
in both languages. In September,1932, Hermsn G, Borne, pastor of a small
church in Houston, Texas, left that church to become minister in New Braun-
fels. With the help of Mrs, Borne, he was particularly sctive in work
with the young peopls.26 In May 1937, Rawin Berger, minister of Council
Bluffs, Iowa, became minister in charge of both German and English services,
tir, Mornhinweg retired as Pogtor Imerituns,27

Two sons of the church have entered the ministry. I!r., Richard H.
Hornhinweg, elder son of Reverend and Mrs, G. Mormhinweg, was ordained in
1930,28 and Mr. Roland Pantermuehl, son of Mr. and Mrs, Julius Pantermuehl
of Route One, His ordinstion was celebrated July 9, 1939, with the
Reveronds Herman G. Borne snd Edwin Berger participsting in the ceremony.Z?

In 1940, when the church celsbrated its ninety-fifth aunniversary, it
beocame o part of the Evangellcal and Reformed Church, instesd of remaining
an independent church as it had been from the time of its organiza.tion.BO
Tive years later the centennial was observed although World War IT was in
progress, The celebration was solemn and d.ignified..31 Throughout the
first hundred yesrs of its 1ife the church struggled constantly against
finemeial difficulties, but always with high courage, friendly coopera-

tion, and slow but steady progress.

26(311111'% Book 1925, p. 138.

27Verbal information from Reverend BHdwin Berger,
28gnurch Bogk 1925, p. 98. 291pid., 1935, ». 53.
I0Information from copy of letter filed in Church Book.

310hurch Book 1941, p. 136.
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The Catholie Church was not organized immedistely because Prince
Solms was unable to obtaln the services of s priest.3Z In llareh,1846,
Georg Menzel, a missionary, conducted the first services under a live
oak tree, near the present 55. Peter and Paml Church, on Castell Avenue, 33
Under this tree n marker, with the following inscription, has been placed:

FOLELORE SAYS THAT HERE IH THE DAWH OF DUXAS
HISTORY STOOD AN INDIAN VILLAGE IN WHICH
ONE OF THE FARLY MISSIONARIZS LINGERED
MANY DAYS; THAT HERE A VISION OF THE CHIEF'S
DAUGHTYR FREED THE TIBST GERUAN IN TEXAS.
TRADITION SAYS THAT UNDER THIS TREE MASS
AS OFFERED BPY THR ABRE BMAWUEL DOMRGECH IH 1849.
TEXAS HISTORICQ LAWDMARES
ASSOCTADION, JUFE 15, 1917.34
Olaudiug Dubuis, pastor ab Oastroville, and known im later years as
the Aishop of Texas, came to Hew Braunfels in 1849, to conduct services,
and in Sentember of the some year, Father BEmannel Domenech organized the
first church. of 5t, 'Pet.er,35 and by the following year s hullding was
constructed on the land the socilety had donated for thatb purpose,3b

In 1871, the present 55, Peter and Paul Church was bullt and the

Sisters of Divine Providence took over the gchool of the church. A larger

schoolhouse wos built 4n 1900, and fn larch 1889, the Reverend J. il, J.

Waock, native of Lorraine, becaeme the pastor of the church and served it

3291*5.,3;1@11 Barichte des Prinzen Usrl zu Solns Sraunfels Bezueglich der
Gruenduns von New Braunfels, Texag, L844-1B845, 0. 68.

33zeitung, Dee. 15, 1932, p. 33, c. 5.

S4Inscription on merier in Castell Avenue.

35Robert B, Imcey, Diamond Jubilee 18741949, Archdlocese of San
Antondo, ». 53.

36z2eituns, Dec. 15, 1932, p. 33 ¢ 5.
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until his death in 1927, While he was minister, tﬁe beantifnl grotto of
Lourdes was erected,37 and largely through his influence several members
of the church have entered the priesthood and religlous i1ife, Father
Columban Wenzel, O. 5, B., lsgr. Joseph Jacobi, Reverend J. J. Hildebrand,
and Reverend Bruno Hubertus.

In 1928, the leverend Joha J. Robling was appointed pastor., He
gsoerved the church until he retired in 1947, The preéent pastor, Armand
J. Webser, was appointed, June 17, '.‘1.911l-§7'.38 |

The Methodist Church of New Brrunfels was among the first churches to
be founded in the community. Harch 7, 1853, the first quarterly conference
for the New Braunfels German Misslon wes held in the house of Brother J.
Hirschleber in Comal Town, with Henry P. Young, missionary, presiding, and
Gustavus Elley, loeal minister, serving as secretary. Flve years later,
the first bullding was erected on the aata"a bank of the Guadalupe River,
later kmown as Unlon Street, in Comal Town. This building served as a
house of worshlp for over :fift.y years, It may still be sesn on Union Street
but used as s private residence. A modern church, the Karbach Hemorial
Churech, was erected in 1913, st 570 West San Antonio Street, and a parsonage
vas added in 1916.39 An educational building was added to the church prop-
erties in 1948, and plans have been made for s second educational building

and o new sancbuary, so the church will continue to expand with the ccnnml::.uiz‘,y.L"D

3iucey, gn. gik.. ». 53. 381pid., p. 55.

395, H. F. Willmann, Directory of the Karbach Memorisl Methodist Church,
7. 13. The ugmwhles wns published while tiv, Willmann was paskor of the chiech,

W0Verbal information from ¢, ¥, Naegelin, president of the church board,
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The First Boptist Church of New Breunfels had its beginning im 1905,
vhen the San Marcos Associatlon bought a lot at the corner of Seguin and
Garden Streets and erscted a small chapel. A revival meeting was conducted
by the Reverend W, D. Bowen.’d This led i;.o the organization of a church,
which the San Mercos Asscclation and the State Board supported for the
next seven years, At the end of that time the San larcos Association seld
the property and the litile chuxch was 1lsaft to survive or perish,

The small congregation contimned, although the outloock for Baptist
vork in New Braunfels was gloomy. In 1922, the State Board sgain came to
the 214 of the church, BSunday Schoel and church services wers resumed for
2 few months., These Baptist assenmblies were held in the Karbach Hemorlal
Hethodist Church of Hew Braunfels at an hour when its own congregation

did not hold servises, aad they were conducted by students from ths San

The Reverend EBrnest J, Young, genersl missionary of the State Board,
came to New Brapunfels, in July,1923, to re-open the work and six peopls
gathered a2t a ealled meeting, which re-esisblighed the First Baptist
Church. When the Strte Board sgreed o pay the salary of the preacher,
Reverend Young reiained in FNew Breunfels. The home of kr. and Mrs, . V.
Riee, menlers of the chureh, served as meebting place until January 13,
1924, when the First Beptist Church rented a small bullding on South
Segnin Avenue for services and Sunday School,

The church sterited a bullding program by purchasing a lot on San

Mlype source material does not reveal the identity of ¥W. D. Bowen.
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Antonioc Street. This lot, and a second one, were sold later and a build-
ing site bought on Union Street in Comal Town, where a frame building was
erected, Shortly after the building had been constructed, the State Board
discontinued its aid and the church was without o pastor for several months,
S5ince the organization was in debt for the builldine, it was impossible %o
meet the interest on the lndebiedness.

The Germen Baptist Oonvention then interested itself in the Hew
Braunfels Church and appeasled to $he State Board to again take up the
work. The Reverend A, Becker, secrebtary of the German Baptist Convention,
pppealed to R, L, Wittner, student in Baylor University, to toke up the
work in New Braunfels, Brother Witiner asccepted the call and under his
guidsnce the shurch began to progress,

In 1936, G, A. Tadd,l"z repleced Brother Wittner and under his guidsnce
" the church opened the Mill Town Misslon, now Calvary Baptlst Church, After
the desth of Brother Todd, September 1, 1941, the church had several pastors
who served short terms oaly. During the early fortiss the church bought
tup lots, on Suenther Avenue, ng o dullding site. Shortly thereafier, o
rosidence and three lots. adjolning the Guenther Avenne property, were
bought, The residence wag used for : nastor's homs and the lots were
additionsl building epace. 4 frome bullding was constructed snd used for
clurch s well as Sunday Sehool, until 2 rock church couwld be Built. The

contraot for & rock siructure was let, August 2, 1908, and on January 8,

}4’21«1'1*. Todd is mot identified in the reference makerials except as
minister of the First Baptist Church of New Braunfels.
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1949, the church was dedicated and gpparently its difficultiss were over. 43
There ars also a auwmber of more recentiy established churches in

Hew Braunfels which are helping o carry on the spiritual work of the

community. To this group beleng the 5t, Paul Lutheran Church, ¥ Gross

Intheran Church,”5 St, John's Episcopal Ohurch,¥® the Pentecostal Church,

the Ghurch of Christ,*? the Interdencminational Church,*® the First Pres-

byterizn Church, and Our lady of Perpetual Help.i’@

4314113an Briges, History of the First Baptist Church of New Braunfels,
Texas. This unpublished history was compiled by Mrs. J. E. (Lilllan) Briges
in 1949, for the dedication of the new church,

Breituns, Jan, 19, 1933, n. 15, c. 3.

4SYew Breunfels Herald, July 25, 1950, p. 6, e. 2.

41via., June 30, 1950, p. 7, e. 5. 7Ipid., v. 7, c. 3.
b8zt pune, July 20, 1950, ». 15, c. 4.

Yeu Brounfels Televchone Directory, Dec. 1949, ». 17.
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CHAPTIER IX

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT IXN THE COUHTY

The industrial center that Prince Solme envisioned has developed in
Comal County, although it took many yeers and sometimes suffered severs
setbacks. The first industry to be deéveloped was a grist and saw mill,
which William E. Herriwether, an latelligent and enterprising Virginian,
who had moved to Hew Brounfols,) built on a channel that he ordered dug
from the leke, The lglee had been formed by damming the Comsl River across
its natural course, just sbove the present swimming pool in landa Park.
The srbificial channel led to the Comal (reel, and served as mill race,
which furnished power for the water wheels, This channel and mill wers
completed sometime in 1847, and the business flourished,Z fherefore, in
1852, Herriwether bullt = cotton gin.3

Mreg, Merriwether did not like Texmns, go she and her husband left Hew
Braunfeis. In 1853, they offered the grist mill and saw mill, the cetton
gin ond press, the wabter rights and 20,000 acres of land for sale, elther
as o whole or subdivided to sult the buyer or buyers.? In 1860, Nr. Joseph

Landa,? merchant of Hew Braunfels, bought the entire property for $14,000,00,

Wiktor Bracht, Texas in 1848, p. 97.

2Hermann Seele, A Shoxt Sketch of Comal County, Texas, p. 6.
JZeitung, Wov, 19, 1852, p. 3, c. b, |

b1pid., day 6, 1853, p. 3, c. 2.

5Joseph Lands was born in Kempen, near the city of Breslau, Germany,
in 1801. He attended school in Germeny and became proficieat in the English,
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from Mr, Merriwether, who then Iived in Shelby County, Tennessee. ®

Hr, Iands improved the mills and operated them successfully until the
0ivil War when he had to turn them over to his wife and their faithful ser-
vante, He and Judge Devine, of San Antonio, were forced to flee to Hexico,
because the secret society, known ag the "Golden Circle," considersd them
abolitionists, Ench of these men had owned slaves and upon learning of
Lincoln's Emancipation Proclamation had told the slaves that they were-_free,
although the slaves contimued to work for the lianda and Devine families, as
pald servants, until thelr desaths., Both men hod been tried by the court
and given & short time in which to settle thelr affairs and leave the
country.? iirs, Landa provad herself a capable business wonan and througil—
out her 1life continusd $o0 sssist in the development of Landa Industries,

Hature wae to slow dewn progress, for in the summer of 1869, high water

German, Polish, Russian, and Hebrew longusges. Since his father dealt in
livestock, particularly borses, Joseph's earliest occupatlon was to ride
cavalry mounts before the Russian officers, who were customers of his father.
When he learned that hls parents wished him to become a Rebbi, he ran away
from home. He worked his way to England, and got various Jjobs along the
Liverpool waterfront. He took passage to America, where he arrived in HNew
York and with the help of some of his former Furaopesn btownsmen found a Job.
When he had sufficient funds, he hought = horse and a spring wsgon, which
he loaded with all kinde of merchandise, and sterted his journey to Texas,
He sold goods along the way, slways replenishing his stock in the large
cities enroute. In 1844, Joseph Lands arrived in Sen Antonio, where he

was the second white merchant., After selling his horse and wagon, he rented
z small bullding and conducted a general store. In 1847, he visited New
Braunfels on mile back and wag so intrigued by the besutiful countryside,
especially the Oomal River and Springs, that he returned %o San Antonio,
losded his belongings on four prairie schooners and meved to New Braunfels.
He opened a store at the corner of Sen Antonio and Castell Streets, where
Jacob Schmidt and Son are located in 1950.

6peed Regord, Vol. G, p. 133.

7Harry Londs, As I Remember, ». 19.
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did nmuch damage,s and in Jumne 1872, when a twelve inch rain fell, the
mills were damaged again. They were repalred and placed hack in operstion
88 8oon af possi‘nle.9

In 1896, when Joseph Landa died, the business was carried on by his
wife and their son, Harry., They soom bought =211 the small river frontage
on both sides of the Comal River 4o procure z11 the riparian rights. Then
they rebullt the dam across the Comal River to incresse the flow of the
mill race until they had water power equivalent to 800 Horse Power.l® By
the turn of the century the lands Power Plent, known as Landa Power and
Light Company, was established and augmented the 800 Horse Power water
wvhesl, by two Diesel engines, one large steam engine and two steam turbines,
thus incressing the capseity to 7,000 Horme Poyer, 1l

This plant furnished power for the fleur mill and an oil mill, that
had been established, and the surplus wzs gold to the city for the strest
lighting system, and to citizens to light private homes, Electric llghts
iliuminated Landa Park, which must be considered as a part of the indug-
trial empire of the Landa's, although it furnished entertainment and relax-
ation for thousands of vaying gussts esch year. It had been opened at the

sugeestion of Kiss Helen Gould, daughter of Jay Gould, the great railroad

8adele Resczeyneki, Unpublished letter, dated July 256, 1869.

9%eitung, June 14, 1872, ». 2, c. &4,
100andn, As I Remember, ». 63.

11l1p4d., ». 65,
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financier, when she visited New Braunfels, in’1897, with Nr. Leroy Trice,
general menager of the International and Great Northern Railwey.l2 By the
spring of 1898, Leroy Trice, in cooperation with Harry Lands, had built a
railroad track into the lLands Estate to bring in thousands upon thousands
of people for Sundsy excursions, church picnics, or Fourth of July celebra-
tions, Hr. Landas hsd improved the ares mesr the springs. Picenic tables
and benches had been constructed and plsced in sghady spots slong the stream,
Soft drink stands and z saloon were slso bullt, where cold drinks wers sold,
A dence hall, which attracted young esnd old for graceful ballroom dancing,
was zlso included in the park properties; as well as several pzvilions,
which gave protection from rain or sun, and where local bands performed in
concert programs, Patrons could rent a row boat at the boat house, or pay
for a ride on the steambomt, which, on special holidays, had an orchestra
on deck. In later years, a swimming pool and screened rooms, which cowld
be rented for a night's lodging, were also provided, =8 well as a cafe and
baseball dilamond. In 1900, when the Missouri, Kensas and Texas Rellway
built throngh Yew Braunfels to Ssn Antonio, it 1laid a track into Landa Park.l3
Exeursion trains could be seen parked on the tracks slmost every day of the
week during the summer season.

The death of iirg. Joseph Lands brought =zbout a change in ownership of
the Lands Bstste. Her four dsughters and son, Harry, were the heirs., Her

will atipulated that Harry Lsnda should be executor of the estate, which

121and2, As 1 Remember, p. 75.

13Ipid., p. 76.
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wag to be sold ten yesrs after her death, Thus, in asccordance with the
will, Lende M1lling Company, as the estate was known, except the nart
known ag Landa Hanch, was sold to San Antonlo capitalists., The industry,
which had been started on borrowed capital and which had grown to = one
snd one-half million dollar enterprise.m passged out of the hande of an
industrisl wizard and out of the 1ife of the community, which had never
appreciated fully how vital a part of itself the Landa Hilling OJompany
was, Due bo mismanagement, the new owners soon allowed the industry to
uass into the hoands of a receivership, and many families suffered as s
result. Some of the former business volume was returned to New Braunfeals,
only after H, Dittlinger Holler Hills Company bought the flour mill several
years later =mnd put it into operation as a feed mill, and the City of Hew
Brzunfels bought ILenda Parl, 15

Shortly after Mr. Meriwether had started the grist sand saw mill, an-
other citizen, John P. Torrey, bullt a grist mill on the river propex‘.:’-6
end in 1855, ndded a mash and blind factory. During the Civil War, the
Yorrey sash factory and mill burned, and in 1865, Mr, Torrey, Joined by
Hr, Henry Runge, of Indisnola end Vieboria, built a cotbton factory, which
had twenty-one looms.l?7 The mill, known as the Comsl HManufacturing Com-

pany, did good businese. In 1867, the owners plonned to enlarge it, and

181anda, As I Remember, p. 96.
150bservations of the writer.
16seele, A Short Sketch, p. 6.

17zeituns, Feb. 20, 1865, n. 4, c. 2.
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appointed HMr, Heinrich E., McColloch, a broker, to sell the sharss to raise
$83,000,00 additional capital.l® Unfortunstely, on September 12, 1869, a
tornado, which destroyed a portion of the City of Hew Braunfels, destroyed
the cotton mill. It was rebullt shortly thereafter, only to be carried
sway by the flood waters of June 8 and 9, 1872,19 when Hew Braunfels had
& cloudburst of slightly more than twelve inches of rain,?20

Dr, Theodore Koester, the physiclan, wvhom the society had sent with
the immigrants, and a citizen with many interests outslide his medical
practice , was busy, in 1865, to egyulp a woclen mill and a sash factory.2l
This property he sold, in 1867, to the directors of a stock company, which
planned to operate a wool factory. The company was known as the New Braun-
fels Woolen Manufacturingycompany, of which Mr. Franz Hourean was the pre-
sident, lir, George Weber, treasurer, while &. ¥, Judson was busineses man~
ager, and G. W, Hetten served as secretary.?2 The company bought new
machinery and started aoperation, April 4, 1868.23 lany difficulties beset
the new enterprise and on June 27, 1870, the company entered lnto s deed

of mortgage with Julius Harms and J. J. Groos, two local citizens,2%

18764 tung, Nov. 29, 1867, ». 3, c. 1.

195eele, A Short Sketch, v. 7.

20zeitune, Jun. 1h, 1872, 1. 2, c. 4.
2lipia., Feb. 20, 1865, p. 4, e.3.
221bid., Bbar, 3, 1867, ». 3, c¢. 2.

23Ipid., Apr. 10, 1868, p. 3, c. 3.

?HDeed Record, Vol. E, p. 267.
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Hr, Gustev ¥. Groes, local citizen, bought the wool factory. In company
vith him wers Mr, Jullas Giesecke, of Washington County, and two loesl
cltizens, Franz Houreau and Thomas Perrymen. They reopened the business
es a private enterprise, in 1873,25 and the mill became vprosperous. In
1879, 1t used $100,000.00 worth of raw wool.26 The ouners had failed to
register thelr trade mark and mills in the eastern states imitated the
pattern of the loecsl mill, and thus forced it out of business in the
eighteen-eighties,27

Brewerles were operated in Few Braunfels at varlous times in its
history. They were always discontinued after a comparstively short time
because the San Antonio breweries could furnish beer at a chesper price
than it could be brewed loeally, and after the railroads built through Hew
Braounfels, breweries at more distent poinis alse supplied the commlmit-y.zs

During the Civil War, saltpetre was mede in New Braunfels zud &
sample may still be seen In the Sophienburg lMugeum, ir, Wilhelm Seekstz,
Sr., one of the original colonists, made the saltpetre at the Comal Springs.
These springs have been marked with a stone to commemorate the saltpeire
works. Mr. Seekatz produced the product for the Confederate Government by

order of lisjor Reed and Captein Harrisom, Commanders of the Nitre and

25ze1tune, Dee. 12, 1873, p. 2, c. 6.
261p3d., ey 16, 1879, p. 3, e. 1.

27y, Oscar Harg, native of Hew Braunfels, who has long interested
himself in the history of the community, furnished the information.

285ome years ago a brewery operated within two blocks of the writer's
home .,
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#ining Department of the Western Dilstrict of Texns, and ¥r. Zdwin Voelcker,
2 locel druggist, refined it,27

John Torrey's water rights were sold in 1881, to Julius Rungs, Leon
Blum, H., Xempner, M. Lasker, Galveston merchants, end Willlism Clemens, a
Hew Braunfels merchent and financier. They built a fine dam and wheel
chambers, which were to operate s cotton mill, but which was never built.
In later years n grist mill was built, which was the beginning of the
H, Dittlinger Roller 111112.30 In 1886, the mill was moved to higher ground
and enlarged, A modern grain elewvator wss bullt in the twentieth century,
and after sixty-four years the company still produces fine flour and high
grade feeds. The H, Dittlinger Company also started two other industries
in the county. The Dittlingsr Lime Company, sbout three miles south of
New Brezunfels, was sold in 193%, and is operated by the United States
Gypsum Company., A rock crusher, that was formerly opernted by the company,
was merged with the Landa Roek Orusher and several smaller companies,
Since 1930, the Servtex Materinls Sompany, s the new rack company is known,
has been under the management of personnel drawn mainly from the origlnal
Di'ﬁtlinger Roek Gompany.sl

In 1921, interest in cotton manufacture caused New Brounfels %o be
selected as the most desirable place for the loeation of a mill, 8, i,

Ransopher, Director of Trade and Industrial Eduoation at the University

29iiies Ottie Coreth, custodian of the Sornhienburg Museum, polnted oub
the Jor of saltpetre on the museum shelf. Its lebel furnished the information,

30Jghrbuch 1925, ». 48,

3lInformation from ir. Herbert Liebscher of H. Dittlinger Roller Mills.
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of Texas, and a group of Central Texas business men proposed snd built the
Planters and Herchsants Mills, near the International and Great Forthern
Railroad dridge, on the ezst bank of the Guadalupe River, The company
manufactured Bluebonnet Ginghams.33 Unfortunntely, the zills shut down

in 1931, because poor management made i1t impossible for the company to
operate at s profit., New Brounfels business ﬁaﬂ, who realized what hard-
ships the community had suffered when the industriaes,that the Lands heirs
hzd sold to San Antonlo capitalists, went oud of business, called s mass
neeting. It wae decided to reorganize the cotton mill, The New Braunfels
Textile Mills were orgsnized, snd the new management, plus the loesl in-
terest in the indusiry, prodoced a business that h=aeg grown snd expanded
constently, In addition to the mlll, which makes gingham, chambrays, suib-
ings, and shirtings, the coupany maintsineg a retail store, Comal Cottons,
Incorporated.

San Antonio citlzens were in need of more electrip power than they
could produce easily in Snn Antonlo, therefore, in the early twenties the
Sen &ntonie Public Bervice Company bought land and woater rights from the
Londa Dstate. They built the firazt unit of the Cowsl Power Plant and sold
electriec ity to the cltizens of New Braunfels, Seguin, and Boerne, as well
s to Ssn Antonio people. Several years laiter a second unit was built
and operstion continued as Fformerly, until December 1, 1942, when a group
of New Brzunfels business men organlzed the New Brezunfels Utilities, This

organization bought the Comal Power Plant and operate it since that date.

Bzﬁéw Braunfels Hergld, July 8, 1921, », 1.
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In 1941, the Robert E, Pent, Wool Top Manufacturing Company, started
operation in New Braunfels. The plant washed and combed wool and sent it
to eastern mills to be made into yarn, Several years later the plant was
enlarged to include a spinning plant and dye works, and the name was changed
to Ploneer Worsted Cdmpany. Wool from all parts of the Unlted States and
from foreigncountries is used to make yarn, which is sold to eastern mills,
The chief by-vroduct 1s lanolin, vhich is gold to chemical plants.33

When New Brounfels celebrated the centemnial of its incorporation,
in 1946, the industrial outlook for the community wes bright. In addition
to the industries discussed above, there were also two tenneries and a
leather goods company ip New Braunfels, Two stocking mllls were being de-

veloped snd have since grown into industries of note.

33Verbal information from relisble members of the firms mentioned.
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Weu Brzumfelser Zeltung, New Brsunfels Zeitung Publishing Compeny, New

Brzunfels, 1852, 1853, 1854k, 1855, 1856, 1863, 1867, 1868, 1872, 1873,
1874, 1875, 1877, 1879, 1836, 1888, 1895, 1914, 1932, 1933, 1950.
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Original Berichte des Prinzen Carl zu Solms Braunfels Bezueglich der
Gruendung von New Braunfelg, Texas, 1844-1845, trsnscripts in
Germsn script of the reports of Dr, de Witt, Henry F. Fisher, and
Prince Carl of Solms Brounfele, Sophienburg Museum, Hew Brauniels,
1908. -

Resczceynski, Adele, Unpublished letter, July 26, 1869, Private collection
of Mrs, Resczeynski's granddaughter, San Antonio.

Seele, Hermanmn, A Short Sketch of Comal County, Texas, New Braunfels
Zeltung Publishing Compsny, New Braunfels, 18835.

Seele, Hermann, Die Cyoresse und Gesammelte Schriften, ¥ew Braunfels
Zeiltung Publishing Company, New Braunfels, 1936.

Willmann, J. B, B., Directory of the Karbach Memorial Methodist Church,
New Braunfels, 1928, (Publisher Unknown.)
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